Career Thoughts of Incarcerated Students

by

Abigail Megan Holder

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of
Auburn University
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy

Auburn, Alabama August 7, 2021

Keywords: incarceration, incarcerated students, career thoughts inventory, recidivism, reentry, career counseling

Copyright 2021 by Abigail Megan Holder

Approved by

Nicholas C. Derzis, Jr., Chair, Associate Clinical Professor, Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling

Margaret Shippen, Professor, Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling Jessica Melendez Tyler, Assistant Clinical Professor, Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling

Jinhee Park, Assistant Professor, Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling

Abstract

In 2018, the Bureau of Justice Statistics released the results of a nine-year longitudinal study following 412,731 inmates released in 2005, finding that 84% of these individuals were rearrested (Alper et al., 2018). This high recidivism rate shows a clear need for reentry intervention to reduce these rates. A key part of reentry should be career readiness; for this to be successful, individuals need to attain skills and education congruent to the skills needed in the labor force. Providing career assistance and interventions to those entering the workforce is understanding an individual's desire and motivation in career and education, and negative career thoughts predict job attainment and satisfaction. The purpose of this study was to examine the career thoughts of incarcerated students and determine if intersections of their identities affect their career thoughts through the use of the Career Thoughts Inventory and demographic information. The intersections examined include; re-offense, disability status, education level, and employment experience. This study investigates the career thoughts of incarcerated students at a technical college serving only incarcerated adults. This study indicates that these intersections do not have a significant difference with incarcerated students' career thoughts.

Acknowledgments

This accomplishment was not a solo effort, it took my entire village. Firstly, I would like to thank my chair and members of my committee. Dr. Nick Derzis, thank you for taking me on as an advisee and serving as my chair. Your mentorship and support over the last four years has been instrumental to my success. To Dr. Peggy Shippen, your support and expertise has been fundamental in my growth as a researcher. I am thankful that you and Dr. Derzis brought me in to help with your prison projects. Dr. Jessica Tyler, you have been influential in my development as a counselor and now a counselor educator. I am thankful for the hours you poured into my development. Dr. Jinhee Park, I am grateful for the insightful feedback and knowledgeable guidance you provided me throughout this process. Thank you to Dr. Wendy Williams for your guidance and encouragement. Lastly, Dr. E. Kelley Mautz, I sincerely thank you for your mentorship and guidance throughout both of my graduate programs and throughout this study. I am so thankful to you and your family.

I would also like to thank my family and friends for understanding the demands of a doctoral program. To my parents, Sue and Bob, it is impossible to put to words the impact your love and unwavering support had. I am so lucky to have you both as parents. To my sister Tara, your support throughout my life has been foundational for all my successes. You are always there to remind me of my strength and abilities. I have appreciated you always being there to lend an ear when I needed one during my graduate school experiences. Steven, I am thankful you are your friendship and support over the years. You are always willing to listen to me talk about my passions as I will also listen to yours. Annabel and Mackenzie, watching you both grow throughout this program brought me so much happiness as we each reached our goals and milestones. I cannot wait to see what you both accomplish, know your Auntie Abbey is here to

support you every step of the way. To Haley, Emily, Lily, and the rest of the Ammon family, I am so thankful to have a second family and the encouragement that comes with it. To my friends, Liz, Kate, and Jay, this experience would not have been as fun without knowing I had friends cheering me on. Thank you to Ella and Tag, who taught me the importance of perception and adaptability.

Thank you to the correctional staff that has supported my efforts in both counseling and research over the last few years. And finally, thank you to the incarcerated men and women I have worked with over the last 5 years. I hope you know that you and your stories matter.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgments	3
Table of Contents	5
List of Tables	9
Chapter 1: Introduction	11
Definition of Terms	11
Reentry and Recidivism	12
Education and Incarcerated Individuals	14
Career Attainment of Incarcerated Individuals	15
Incarcerated Individual's Disability Status Effect on Educational and Career Attainment	17
Career Thoughts	20
Problem Statement	22
Study Significance and Purpose	23
Chapter 2: Methods	25
Research Questions	25
Statement of Hypotheses	27
Participants	31
Instruments	32
Demographic Questionnaire	32
Career Thoughts Inventory	33
Procedures	34
Data Analysis	34

Summary	35
Chapter 3: Results	36
Demographic Data	36
Statistical Analysis	39
Research Question 1	39
Research Question 2	40
Research Question 3	45
Research Question 4	51
Research Question 5	56
Summary	61
Chapter 4: Discussion	63
Career Thoughts of Incarcerated Students	63
Re-offense	64
Disability Status	65
Education Level	66
Previous Employment Experience	67
Implications of Counseling Practice, Supervision and Counselor Education	68
Limitations of the Study	69
Recommendations for Future Research	70
Conclusion	72
Chapter 5: Manuscript	73
Abstract	73
Keywords	

Introduction and Background Recidivism and Reentry	74
Education and Career Attainment of Incarcerated Individuals	74
Career Thoughts	77
Statement of the Problem and Significance of the Study	79
Research Questions	80
Participants	81
Procedures and Data Analysis	82
Results	83
Demographics	83
Research Question 1: Incarcerated Students Career Thoughts	85
Research Question 2: Re-Offense	86
Research Question 3: Disability Status	87
Research Question 4: Education	87
Research Question 5: Employment Experience	87
Discussion	88
Re-offense	89
Disability Status	89
Education Level	90
Previous Employment Experience	91
Limitations of the Study and Recommendations for Future Research	91
Conclusions	93
References	94
Appendix A: Auburn University Institutional Review Board (IRB) Exemption Letter	101

Appendix B: Informed Consent Document	103
Appendix C: Demographic Questionnaire	106
Appendix D: Career Thoughts Inventory (CTI)	108

List of Tables

Table 1: Demographics of Participants	38
Table 2: Minimum and Maximum Sample Scores	39
Table 3: CTI Descriptive Statistics Across Groups	40
Table 4: Results of RQ 2 one-way ANOVA	41
Table 5: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 2	41
Table 6: Results of RQ 2.1 one-way ANOVA	42
Table 7: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 2.1	42
Table 8: Results of RQ 2.2 one-way ANOVA	43
Table 9: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 2.2.	44
Table 10: Results of RQ 2.3 one-way ANOVA	45
Table 11: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 2.3	45
Table 12: Results of RQ 3 one-way ANOVA	46
Table 13: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 3	46
Table 14: Results of RQ 3.1 one-way ANOVA	47
Table 15: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 3.1	47
Table 16: Results of RQ 3.2 one-way ANOVA	49
Table 17: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 3.2	49
Table 18: Results of RQ 3.3 one-way ANOVA	50
Table 19: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 3.3	50
Table 20: Results of RQ 4 one-way ANOVA	52
Table 21: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 4	52
Table 22: Results of RQ 4.1 one-way ANOVA	53

Table 23: 1	Descriptive Statistics of RQ 4.1	53
Table 24: R	Results of RQ 4.2 one-way ANOVA	54
Table 25: D	Descriptive Statistics of RQ 4.2	55
Table 26: 1	Results of RQ 4.3 one-way ANOVA	56
Table 27: 1	Descriptive Statistics of RQ 4.3	56
Table 28: 1	Results of RQ 5 one-way ANOVA	57
Table 29: 1	Descriptive Statistics of RQ 5	57
Table 30: 1	Results of RQ 5.1 one-way ANOVA	58
Table 31: 1	Descriptive Statistics of RQ 5.1	58
Table 32: 1	Results of RQ 5.2 one-way ANOVA	59
Table 33: 1	Descriptive Statistics of RQ 5.2	60
Table 34: 1	Results of RQ 5.3 one-way ANOVA	61
Table 35: 1	Descriptive Statistics of RO 5.3	61

Chapter 1: Introduction

Over the last 40 years, the United States incarceration rates have increased by 500%, equating to having 2.2 million people currently incarcerated (The Sentencing Project, 2019). This dramatic increase occurred due to the combination of the 'tough on crime' era and the 'war on drugs.' These eras set mandatory minimum sentences for drug offenses resulting in a 1,007.5% increase in the number of people serving drug-related convictions since the 1980s (The Sentencing Project, 2019). In addition to these mandatory minimum sentences, there were cutbacks on parole releases, resulting in more people serving longer terms than ever before in the United States. The National Research Council reported that half of the 222% growth in the state prison population in the twenty years between 1980 and 2010 was due to this increase in sentence length (Travis, 2014). These decades of harsh sentencing have left the United States with the world's highest incarceration rate.

Definition of Terms

The following definition of terms was developed for this study:

Career Thoughts: Defined as the outcomes of an individual's thinking about assumptions, attitudes, behaviors, beliefs, feelings, plans, and strategies related to career decision making and problem-solving (Sampson et al., 2004, p. 91).

Disability Status: Defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act (1990) as an individual with "a physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities, a person who has a history or record of such an impairment, or a person who is perceived by others as having such an impairment" (Civil Rights Division, 2020). Specific impairments are not listed by the Americans with Disabilities Act.

Education Level: Education level is defined as "the highest level attained" in education (Matsumura, 2019). For this study, the education levels included elementary school, middle school, high school, completed high school, and GED acquisition.

Employment: Employment is defined by Varghese et al. (2013) as legal gainful employment. This clarification decreases the need for specifying the type of employments and limits the unknown factors of illegal work concerning vocational development (Varghese, 2012).

Re-offense: Defined as "the time from the sentence date to a subsequent arrest that resulted in a conviction" by Lapham et al. (2006). The term relates to recidivism rates and indicates reentry issues in the past.

Reentry and Recidivism

These high incarceration rates lead many individuals to be released from prison without a feasible reentry and career plan to make them successful post-incarceration. Cooper et al. (2014) reported that 67.8% of all released inmates were rearrested within three years, and 76.9% were rearrested within five years, meaning over three-quarters of all people released from corrections will recidivate. More recently, Alper et al. (2018), with the Bureau of Justice Statistics, released a nine yearlong longitudinal study following 412,731 inmates released by 30 states in 2005 to track recidivism rates. Within the first year, 45% of the former inmates were rearrested, with another 24% rearrested within three years (Alper et al., 2018). In the following four to six years, another 11% were rearrested, and 4% more were rearrested in seven to nine years. These rates total to 69% of these 412,731 individuals who were rearrested within three years and 84% within nine years (Alper et al., 2018). These numbers display the need for reentry programming changes that address the causes of recidivism.

According to the National Institute of Justice (n.d.), recidivism refers to "a person's relapse into criminal behavior, often after the person receives sanctions or undergoes intervention for a previous crime" (para. 3). Recidivism research is used in sentencing, corrections, and policy intervention evaluations (National Institute of Justice [NIJ], n.d.). In a meta-analysis of 50 studies with recidivism outcomes, Davis et al. (2013) determined that recidivism was defined most often in the degree to which a formerly incarcerated individual is involved in reoffending, rearrests, reconviction, reincarceration, technical parole violation, and successful completion of parole. Recidivism is an important matter concerning other criminal justice topics such as incapacitation, specific deterrence, and rehabilitation. Of these topics, in the counseling research, most often, the focus is on rehabilitation.

According to a Bureau of Justice Statistics report, in 2016, there were 878,000 adults paroled from federal and state institutions (Kaeble & Alper, 2020). Since the Alper et al. (2018) study indicated that almost two-thirds of those released from prison were rearrested within three years, it is essential to recognize why a formerly incarcerated person might recidivate. Formerly incarcerated individuals experience an increased prevalence of homelessness, unemployment, and poverty. Among these prevalent reentry concerns, one of the most significant challenges to those previously incarcerated is reentering the labor market. Employers are often hesitant to hire individuals with a criminal history, which is a pathway to homelessness and poverty (The Urban Institute, 2008). When formerly incarcerated individuals get hired, they are often in low-skill jobs with limited advancement opportunities and receive lower wages than made before incarceration (The Urban Institute, 2008). An aspect of positively changing these common concerns could be implicated before release in the rehabilitation phase, where education and career interventions could occur while still incarcerated. Rehabilitation is defined as the "extent

to which a program is implicated in the reduction of crime by 'repairing' the individual in some way by addressing his or her needs or deficits." (NIJ, n.d.). In addressing unemployment, the needs and deficits of former incarcerated individual's education and career readiness need to be addressed. When the needs of any incarcerated population are not met through treatment or education, there is a higher risk of recidivism.

Education and Incarcerated Individuals

For reentry to be successful, individuals need to attain skills congruent to the skills needed in the labor force. Often incarcerated individuals are behind in reading, writing, and mathematics education compared to similar groups in the general population. Rampey (2016) identified that only 30% of incarcerated individuals had been offered educational opportunities while in prison. The results of the Program for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC), which measures the relationship between educational background, cognitive skills, use of information and communication technology, and workplace experiences and skills, exposed that two-thirds of the incarcerated population that had a high school diploma in PIAAC scored level 2 or lower in literacy (Rampey et al., 2016). This is considered below the necessary level for success in society's current workforce. One-fourth of incarcerated individuals with a high school diploma scored at levels that are considered extremely low, and 90% of those without a high school diploma also scored at level 2 or lower (Rampey et al., 2016). These scores display that most of this population did not have the education to complete basic tasks needed in everyday society, including writing a letter or calculating grocery bills. Employers are already less likely to consider hiring a formerly incarcerated individual, but lower education levels place these individuals at an even higher disadvantage for career attainment.

Most state institutions provide opportunities for incarcerated individuals to complete their General Education Development, or GED, a test that qualifies as the equivalent to a high school diploma. People who have served time in prison are more likely to have their GED than a high school diploma (Couloute, 2018a). This discrepancy can also create more difficulty in becoming gainfully employed and other difficulties formerly incarcerated individuals face regarding employment. While incarcerated, those who wanted to enroll in academic classes or programs mostly desire to learn more, focusing on improving their job prospects post-release (Rampey et al., 2016). The meta-analysis of incarcerated adult educational programs found that most of the studies resulted in lower recidivism rates among those who participated in these programs (Davis et al., 2013). There are four most common types of programming; adult basic education, high school and GED, post-secondary education, and vocational education. Each education program is intended to serve different populations of incarcerated individuals with different reentry needs and teach diverse skill sets. Davis et al. (2013) calculated the odds ratio of 88 studies that compared recidivism rates with incarcerated individuals that completed one of these four types of correctional education program with those that did not. Overall, the results proposed that participation in any of these four types of corrections education programs was associated with lower recidivism rates. The fundamental difficulty in providing educational programs to help these individuals attain necessary reentry skills and employment to incarcerated groups is funding (Steurer, 2020). Most of the current funding is fragmented across the country due to various funding levels from the county, state, and federal budgets (Steurer, 2020).

Career Attainment of Incarcerated Individuals

In the current labor market, a GED or high school diplomas have diminishing value, which, according to Couloute (2018a), is the highest education greater than 50% of formerly

incarcerated individuals have. The diminishing value of these credentials causes a severe concern regarding employment for these individuals upon reentry. Even worse, people that have been incarcerated are twice likely to have no high school diploma or equivalency when compared to the general population (Coulette, 2018a). This results in an even larger employment barrier for those incarcerated due to their lower educational achievement. Despite this, PIAAC did show that 65% of these incarcerated individuals had worked full or part-time in the year before their current sentence (Rampey et al., 2016). Specifically, in this data, 49% of these respondents were employed full-time before incarceration. In another study, Curtis et al. (2013) reported that 86% of those surveyed reported their most recent job before incarceration qualified full-time.

One way incarcerated individuals can attain career skills is through employment while incarcerated in a prison job. At the time of the PIAAC assessment, 61% of the incarcerated population currently held a prison job (Rampey et al., 2016). This percentage increased when stratified by age; those between the ages of 55 and 65 held prison jobs at a rate of 70% (Rampey et al., 2016). While the prison jobs are an excellent method to increase skill and responsibility, both important to holding a job upon reentry, these jobs are still most often held by those with higher education levels than other inmates. PIAAC assessment indicated that 47% of those without a high school credential held a prison job, compared to the 67% of those with a high school credential holding employment in prison. Of those assessed with an Associate degree, 73% of them hold a prison job (Rampey et al., 2016). Those with a prison job had higher literacy skills than the peers who did not have a job in prison. Most incarcerated individuals who hold a prison job disclosed that they never have to use numeracy or literacy skills while carrying out their prison employment responsibilities.

Incarcerated Individual's Disability Status Effect on Educational and Career Attainment

It is essential to understand the influence disability status has on both academic and career matriculations. In 2017, the National Center for Education Statistics released high school graduation rates for individuals with and without disabilities for the 2015-2016 academic year throughout the United States. Individuals with disabilities demonstrated a 65.5% graduation rate, which increased by 0.9% from the prior academic year (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017). However, this same year the national graduation rate for individuals without disabilities reached 84.1%, a record high (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017). High school and college degrees can serve an important role for individuals with disabilities in job acquisition. Despite this, the national employment rate for full-time and part-time employment was 19.3% for individuals with disabilities in 2019, compared to 66.3% for those without disabilities (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2020). For both categories, this decreased from the year prior. However, individuals with disabilities faced a more significant decrease of 7.3% compared to only 3.5%.

Types of disabilities that commonly influence employment and education in order of most common among incarcerated adults to least according to the Bureau of Justice Statistics, are; cognitive disability, ambulatory disability, independent living disability, vision disability, hearing disability, and self-care disability (Bronson et al., 2015). This range of disabilities is also common in the general population. Sears et al. (2014) found that college students with a disability experienced significantly higher external conflict levels, making academic and career decisions thank those without disabilities. Barriers also exist within work environments to impede success, and disability can prevent individuals from performing specific work tasks (Derzis et al., 2013). It is crucial for vocational interventions to meet those with disabilities'

needs, mental health concerns, even though many incarcerated adults with a disability may never receive the services they need (McWhirter, 2013).

Mental health disorders were included in disability status in some of the studies reviewed. People who become incarcerated already have elevated rates of substance use disorders and are more likely to engage in smoking, drinking, and illicit drug use while incarcerated. Specifically, women with a criminal record are more likely to be drug involved than their male counterparts, which can indicate future recidivism, relapse, overdose, suicide, or other mental illness (Harzke & Pruitt, 2018; Rodda & Beichner, 2017). Despite awareness of how widespread substance use is within the incarcerated population and the risks facing those with substance use history, there is often inadequate action to help reduce recidivism rates, mental health illness, overdose, and continued substance use. This gap also shows the number of incarcerated individuals going untreated and emphasizes the harm done by not providing treatment. Unemployment is a major and chronic problem among people with substance abuse disorder. Laudet (2012) found that of their 311 individual samples with history of a substance use disorder, less than half were employed full-time or part-time. This study also identified how other aspects of an individual's identity, including age, race, and education level, correlated with lower employment levels. However, these results also heightened risk of recidivism when someone with an untreated substance use disorder is released since this disorder may affect employment attainment.

People will frequently have two or more co-occurring medical or mental health concerns, known as comorbid disorders or conditions. Comorbidities increase recidivism risk; accurate identification and evaluation of the risk of women with a history of criminalization are of the utmost importance in developing case management plans to reduce recidivism (Van Voorhis et al., 2010). Past or current victimization can contribute to drug or alcohol abuse, depression,

posttraumatic stress disorder, and criminal activity, which creates a continuous recidivism cycle. Continued and untreated substance use while incarcerated increases the risk of recidivating. Risk is heightened when the person also has a history of trauma and relational abuse and use substances in place of healthy coping mechanisms (Asberg & Renk, 2012). Substances continuing to be accessible while incarcerated paired with limited treatment options continue to increase the risk. Aftercare programs include assisting the clients in seeking employment, transportation, healthcare, and living arrangements that can assist in reentry success (Wells & Bright, 2005). Previously there had been significant gaps in these areas, which increased the prospect of recidivism. Connecting individuals to community-based programs are one way to increase their success rate, as receiving aftercare was a predictor of success and resulted in a lower recidivism rate (Johnson et al., 2015).

The discussion of disability concerning incarcerated individuals' career and educational attainment is important because a 2016 study indicated the 40% of jail inmates reported having at least one disability, while an additional 16% said they had multiple disabilities (Trotter & Noonan, 2016). Overall, the incarcerated population is more likely to have a medical history, including a chronic medical condition or disease. Bronson et al. (2015) stated that two in 10 incarcerated adults reported having a cognitive disability, which was the most reported type of disability in this study at 31%. This is almost triple the percentage of individuals with disabilities in the general population at 11%. In this same group, the number of individuals with disabilities increased another 13% when specifying by age to be only inmates older than 50 years old compared to decreasing by 4% when only including those between the ages of 18-24 (Bronson et al., 2015). Inmates with a disability were also more likely to report a comorbid disorder than

those without a disability. These statistics indicate the need to address the career readiness of incarcerated adults with disabilities.

Career Thoughts

Negative and dysfunctional career thinking makes career choice and decision-making much more difficult. Liu et al. (2014) used a measure of career maturity as a similar definition to the definition of career thoughts identified in this study. The study found the career maturity was associated with job attainment, where the greater the maturity and less dysfunctional career thoughts resulted in more positive career attainment outcomes and a better chance of obtaining and maintaining employment (Liu et al., 2014). This study also indicated that those with greater maturity and career thoughts had a better. This study also emphasized the importance of emotional intelligence to career development. Student decision-making is influenced by various personal and environmental factors, including their self-beliefs and their career motivation. Individuals may avoid specific career preparation tasks due to their own beliefs on performing this task (Fenning et al., 2013). This could lead to what Sampson et al. (1996, p. 2) identified as decision-making confusion due to the inability to complete tasks for the decision-making process for career choices. The results of the Fenning et al. (2013) study indicated that those with higher self-efficacy, which leads to lower decision-making confusion and less dysfunctional career thinking, consider more career options, and are better prepared for those careers. This preparedness leads to greater career attainment. Often the biases and distorted career thoughts are unnoticed, and the environments of individuals gaining career training should be taken into account, as it also effects career thinking.

The most important and fundamental challenge to providing career assistance and interventions to those entering the workforce is understanding an individual's desire and

motivation in career and education related to employment. Bertoch et al. (2014) focused on the goal instability related to career thoughts, decisions, and performance in career courses. Goal stability is predicated on the idea that people need to have a clear vision of their goals to be purposeful and productive. The foundation of the Bertoch et al. (2014) study was the belief that goal instability is associated with readiness for career exploration. Stress can influence career readiness and decisions. When individuals are in stressful situations or environments, uncertainty and indecision will often occur, which will result in a level of either satisfaction or dissatisfaction with their choice (Bertoch et al., 2014). Education level appears to have some influence on career thoughts. Derzis et al. (2017) identified that the individuals who had only grade school or some grade school as their highest education level had the highest instances of external conflict. Negative career thoughts can predict other job acquisition and satisfaction issues. Those with negative career thoughts will often have an increased avoidant behavior from their job or career attainment and have lower satisfaction when employed (Lee et al., 2016). Other behaviors may also present themselves in individuals with negative career thoughts. This could be through not completing assignments, mental health issues arising from depression or anxiety, and verbally expressing negative thoughts (Musgrove et al., 2012), determining the career thoughts of incarcerated adults in educational programming before reentry could predict success levels both in their programs before release and employment post-release. This determination would also allow intervention before reentry for those with negative career thoughts to help increase the likelihood of success in their career.

In order to make career decisions and explore career options, the individual must be able to engage in decision-making and problem-solving processes. The model developed by Bullock-Yowell et al. (2012) informed career counselors that negative career thoughts explain a portion

of exploratory behavior and problem-solving self-efficacy. There is a relationship between negative career thoughts and exploratory behavior, indicating that it is important for career counselors to intervene early in dysfunctional career thinking to be more successful in initiating problem-solving behaviors in the future (Bullock-Yowell et al., 2012). When Thrift et al. (2012) initiated a similar model with a diverse group of college students and conducted a pre- and post-CTI assessment to measure the effectiveness of the career intervention, there was a significant effect on the overall score and two of the assessment's construct scales, both the decision-making confusion and commitment anxiety scales. The post-tests also revealed a significant reduction in negative career thoughts on the decision-making confusion scale and commitment anxiety scale. Career thoughts and decision-making abilities impact on career attainment; therefore dysfunctional and negative career thoughts must be addressed in students, especially incarcerated students, before entering the field.

Problem Statement

As rates of incarceration and recidivism increase, there needs to be a way to address the problems that afflict the formerly incarcerated population. Research indicates the increased prevalence of homelessness, unemployment, and poverty among this population. These issues are often due to a lack of career development and job attainment, which results in a clear need for successful employment to reduce recidivism. The Career Thoughts Inventory can help identify negative career thoughts for intervention and better career development before reentry. This study aims to assess what aspects of re-offense, disability status, education level, and employment experience affect the career thoughts of incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

Study Significance and Purpose

In the past, incarcerated individuals' vocational needs have not received much attention in counseling research. The incarcerated population is a diverse population consisting of people with disabilities, people with mental illness, various levels of education and training, and members of ethnic minority groups who are or were incarcerated. It is essential to develop vocational interventions that focus on and attend to a diverse population of individuals. The group identified for this study is especially unique because the educational programs are at a technical college that serves solely incarcerated adults. This technical college offers 19 different technical degree and certificate programs. This study progresses the research that has already been done in this state with various prison populations.

Overall, extensive research has focused on the incarcerated population in the last two decades. Now is time to thoroughly examine incarcerated individuals' career thoughts in educational and career programming prior to release from society to decrease the risk of recidivism, as employment is a primary indicator for successful reentry. Employment is an important indicator because gainful employment decreases stressors related to housing security, poverty, and health concerns. Homelessness formerly incarcerated people are about ten times more likely to be homeless than the general population (Couloute, 2018b). The research focused on rehabilitation and education of incarcerated groups to reduce recidivism has increased over the last 20 years. However, little research focusing on the unique group of incarcerated students and career intervention has been produced. The research is unique because the data is only from incarcerated students at a technical college rather than a general incarcerated population. This will provide a more in-depth understanding of how vocational programming and intervention can influence the career thoughts of incarcerated individuals. This information will inform the field

for those that work with incarcerated individuals in various capacities. This will provide better information in correctional departments across the country on how vocational programming could positively affect career thoughts of the incarcerated individuals. Within the counseling field, working with incarcerated individuals is a narrow specialty. Despite being a narrow specialty, this will inform counselors that work in reentry about how various aspects of someone's identity may influence their career outlook and reentry needs. The purpose of this study is to understand the relationship of incarcerated student's life experiences or identity with their Career Thought Inventory scores to determine if these aspects of their lives influence the results of the assessment.

Chapter 2: Methods

The study examines the career thoughts of incarcerated students with five research questions comparing their Career Thought Inventory score and their life experiences or identity. The following section outlines the research questions and methodology to answer these questions.

Research Questions

Through the use of a questionnaire and formal assessment measures, the study investigates the following research questions:

RQ1: Do incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college have positive career thoughts?

RQ2: Is there a significant difference between re-offense and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ2.1: Is there a significant difference between re-offense and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ2.2: Is there a significant difference between re-offense and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ2.3: Is there a significant difference between re-offense and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ3: Is there a significant difference between disability status and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ3.1: Is there a significant difference between disability status and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

- RQ3.2: Is there a significant difference between disability status and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?
- RQ3.3: Is there a significant difference between disability status and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ4: Is there a significant difference between education level and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

- RQ4.1: Is there a significant difference between education level and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?
- RQ4.2: Is there a significant difference between education level and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?
- RQ4.3: Is there a significant difference between education level and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ5: Is there a significant difference between previous employment experience and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

- RQ5.1: Is there a significant difference between previous employment experience and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?
- RQ5.2: Is there a significant difference between previous employment experience and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ5.3: Is there a significant difference between previous employment experience and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

Statement of Hypotheses

The following null and alternative hypotheses were developed for this study:

 $H_{\emptyset}1$: There is no significant positive thinking for incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

H_a1: There is a significant positive thinking for incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

 $H_{\emptyset}2$: There is no significant mean difference between re-offense and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

H_a2: There is a significant mean difference between re-offense and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

 $H_{\emptyset}2.1$: There is no significant mean difference between re-offense and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

H_a2.1: There is a significant mean difference between re-offense and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

 $H_{\emptyset}2.2$: There is no significant mean difference between re-offense and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

- H_a2.2: There is a significant mean difference between re-offense and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
- $H_{\emptyset}2.3$: There is no significant mean difference between re-offense and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
- H_a2.3: There is a significant mean difference between re-offense and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
- H_Ø3: There is no significant mean difference between disability status and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
- H_a3: There is a significant mean difference between disability status and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - $H_{\emptyset}3.1$: There is no significant mean difference between disability status and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - H_a3.1: There is a significant mean difference between disability status and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - $H_{\emptyset}3.2$: There is no significant mean difference between disability status and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - H_a3.2: There is a significant mean difference between disability status and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

- $H_{\emptyset}3.3$: There is no significant mean difference between disability status and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. $H_{a}3.3$: There is a significant mean difference between disability status and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
- $H_{\emptyset}4$: There is no significant mean difference between education level and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
- H_a4: There is a significant mean difference between education level and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - $H_{\emptyset}4.1$: There is no significant mean difference between education level and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - H_a4.1: There is a significant mean difference between education level and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - $H_{\emptyset}4.2$: There is no significant mean difference between education level and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - H_a4.2: There is a significant mean difference between education level and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

- $H_{\emptyset}4.3$: There is no significant mean difference between education level and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
- $H_a4.3$: There is a significant mean difference between education level and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
- $H_{\emptyset}5$: There is no significant mean difference between previous employment experience and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. $H_{a}5$: There is a significant mean difference between previous employment experience and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - $H_{\emptyset}5.1$: There is no significant mean difference between previous employment experience and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - H_a5.1: There is a significant mean difference between previous employment experience and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - $H_{\emptyset}5.2$: There is no significant mean difference between previous employment experience and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.
 - H_a5.2: There is a significant mean difference between previous employment experience and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

 $H_{\emptyset}5.3$: There is no significant mean difference between previous employment experience and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

H_a5.3: There is a significant mean difference between previous employment experience and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

Participants

The participants of this study were currently incarcerated individuals who are currently enrolled at a technical college in Alabama. This technical college offers 19 programs of study across six campuses. Within these programs, students gain life skills training and job placement assistance. The population included participants from men's and women's correctional facilities at either of the three campuses for this technical college. Researchers met with all 121 student inmates before completing the assessments. In this meeting, the researchers explained that the purpose of collecting data was to understand the career development and job interests of students currently enrolled.

According to the Alabama Department of Corrections 2019 yearly report, there were 21,680 individuals in custody at the Alabama Department of Corrections facilities'. Of this population, 50.6% of the population reported having a high school, GED, or some college education, with the custody population's average education level being 10th grade (Alabama Department of Corrections, 2019). The recidivism rate of 2019 was 27.95%, which was down 3.95% from 2013, according to the 2019 report. Of the admissions into Alabama Department of Corrections facilities, 79.4% of inmates' sentences were less than ten years in length (Alabama Department of Corrections, 2019).

Participants were identified using cluster sampling. Cluster sampling exists in this study because each campus is a homogeneous group from male or female prison facilities. However, the technical college separates these groups into clusters by technical program the individuals are enrolled in. Stratification occurred due to individuals' characteristics, such as sex, incarceration status, and other demographics. This was done in conjunction with the college due to enrollment in vocational programs, and each cluster is representative of one of the college's campus. Cluster sampling works within prison settings well because it utilizes the naturally occurring, mixed group of elements of the population using dorm sections and works well in this situation due to assessments taking place at each of the campuses. In this sampling method, each participant appeared in only one cluster at one time.

Instruments

The research questions aim to answer if the dependent variables of the Career Thoughts

Inventory Total score, decision-making confusion construct score, commitment anxiety construct
score, and external conflict construct score are influenced by the independent variables, the
independent variables assessed in this study are repeat offender status, disability status, education
level, and previous employment experience. Data collection was done through the following
instruments:

Demographic Questionnaire

This questionnaire (Appendix C) measures the demographics of the population participating in the study. These demographics include age, gender, race, disability status, the highest level of education completed, employment history, campus, and if they are a repeat offender.

Career Thoughts Inventory

This scale was developed to screen an individual's current level of negative thinking and the nature of their dysfunctional thinking related to career (Sampson et al., 1996). This assessment is based on the cognitive information processing theory to career development. Results of this assessment can be used to better address the needs of individuals relating to career planning and interventions. The Career Thoughts Inventory has an internal consistency ranging from .93 to .97, meeting standards for reliability and validity scales (Sampson et al., 1996). This instrument is meant to assess negative career thoughts that interfere with effective career decision-making (Sampson et al., 1996). The inventory is a 48-question that utilizes a 4-point Likert scale of strongly disagree, disagree, agree, and strongly agree. The higher the score, the greater the dysfunctional career thinking (Sampson et al., 1996). In order to conduct data analysis, the college aged norm-group will be compared with the data sample. This profile for college students normed group indicate that the following scores are the 50th percentile; 46-48 CTI total, 11 decision-making confusion, 13 for commitment anxiety, and 3-4 for external conflict (Sampson et al., 1996). This assessment has three construct scales; decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, and external conflict. The decision-making confusion construct consists of 14 of the 48 items, and this scale reflects an inability to start or continue decisionmaking due to disabling emotions or not understanding the process of making decisions (Sampson et al., 1996). The commitment anxiety construct consists of 10 items from the assessment. This construct reflects the lack of ability to commit to a career choice with generalized anxiety regarding the outcome of the decision (Sampson et al., 1996). The final construct, external conflict, is 5 of the 48 items from the assessment. This construct reflects the inability to balance one's self-perceptions with input from significant others, which creates a

reluctance to take responsibility for making a career decision (Sampson et al., 1996). The Career Thought Inventory can be found in Appendix D.

Procedures

This study used pre-existing data. Researchers met with potential participants in 2019 to explain the purpose of the data collection and present job interests and career development for the enrolled incarcerated students. Auburn University's Institutional Review Board completed a full board review before this data collection in 2018; this current study was determined to be exempt. A letter from the IRB is in Appendix A at the end of this document.

Participants were then consented and given the option to complete the Career Thoughts

Inventory and demographic questions. The signed consent forms were separated from the

assessment to deidentify the participant. Each assessment was given a code between the numbers

1-121, with a letter code of either a W, DM, or FM at the end, depending on which campus

location the data was collected. Each participant was provided with their results, even if they

opted out of the study data set.

There was complete transparency between the investigator and the participants in order to limit coercion. In order to control for reading deficits, the assessments were read aloud to the groups. The assessments were collected and kept in the Auburn University researchers' care in a locked office until the data was transferred via an electronic format through a password-protected device and stored on a secure content management platform, approved by the IRB.

Data Analysis

The data has been compiled into the IBM SPSS Statistics computer program for data analyses. This data is already deidentified, and the researcher does not have access to identifying information to match the participant. Participants have been coded with a number 1-121 with

letters following. The letter "W" following the participant number means this data was collected at the women's campus, "DM" indicates collection at one of the male campus, and "FM" indicates collection at the other male campuses.

Descriptive statistics were used to analyze the demographic information about the participants. The types of descriptive statistics used include; a percentage measure of frequency for each response, the mean measure of central tendency of scores in total CTI and the three constructs, and standard deviation measure of the variation of the scores. In order to measure the results of the survey responses and answer the research questions, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). A one-way ANOVA is used to assess the differences across groups based on their means (Ross & Shannon, 2011). A one-way ANOVA was used to examine the differences in career thoughts with the participant's group affiliation in response to questions regarding disability status, employment, education, and re-offense.

Summary

This chapter comprises the research study methodology, including the problem statement, research questions, participant information, instruments, procedures, and data analysis. The participants in this study are a vulnerable population; therefore, care was taken to understand and prevent the risk of coercion and other issues in the study of the incarcerated population when the data was collected.

The instruments used include brief demographic questions and the Career Thoughts
Inventory. Data analysis will include descriptive statistics and inferential statistics using SPSS.

Descriptive statistics were used for the demographic information, and a one-way ANOVA was used to assess the means across the data points. This research was determined to be exempt by Auburn University's Institutional Review Board; a letter from the board is in Appendix A.

Chapter 3: Results

The purpose of this study is to examine incarcerated individuals' career thoughts in educational and career programming prior to release back into society. This information could be valuable to decrease the risk of recidivism. The following section illustrates the results from the tests run in IBM SPSS Statistics.

Demographic Data

The participants of this study were enrolled at a technical college in Alabama that serves solely incarcerated adults. The participant population included 121 student inmates from three campuses for the same technical college; one campus serves inmates from women's state correctional facilities. The other two campuses serve men's state correctional facilities. Of the total 121 participants, their ages fell between 18 to 60 years old, with a mean age of 36.34 years. The majority of the sample fell between 36-44 years old, with 39 participants or 32.2% of the sample. Ages 27-35 were the second largest group at 29.8%, with 36 participants. 17.4% of the sample was between 18-36 years old, equating to 21 participants. The final two age groups were 45-53 years old and 54+. In the 45-53 age group had 16 participants or 13.2% of the sample. The 54+ age group included 7.4% of the sample, or 9 participants. The sample was split between three identified gender responses: Female, Male, and Transgender. Majority of the sample identifies as male at 76.9% or 93 participants. 27 participants in the sample, or 22.3% of the sample identifies as female. One participant in the sample identifies as transgender or 0.8%.

The participant's race in this sample is split into five categories; African American/Black, Caucasian/white, Hispanic/Latino, two or more, and other. Of the total 121 participants, majority with 59 or 48.8% of the sample, selected their race as Caucasian/white in the demographic questionnaire. The second-largest race group in the sample was African American/Black, with

43.8% or 53 participants. The last two categories made up 7.5% of the sample total with, four participants (3.3%) selecting other, three participants (2.5%) selecting two or more, and two participants (1.7%) selecting Hispanic/Latino.

The participants were also asked if they were repeat offenders to gather the sample's recidivism rate. Of the 121-participant sample, 63 or 52.1% of the sample replied yes that they were a repeat offender, while 58 participants or 47.9% of the sample replied no. This provides a relatively even split among the two groups.

Disability status, education level, and previous employment experiences were asked of the group; one participant declined to respond to each of these questions, resulting in a 120-participant sample for this group of questions. The overwhelming majority of the sample indicated they did not have a disability, with 96 participants or 79.3% of the sample. The remaining 24 participants, or 19.8% indicated they did have a disability. In the category of previous employment, 106 participants, or 87.6%, indicated they did have full-time employment experience prior to incarceration, leaving only 14 participants or 11.6% without experience.

Lastly, the education category comprises five categories; Elementary school, Middle school, high school, completed high school, and GED. The 120 respondents indicated their highest level of education completed. The majority of respondents indicated that GED was the highest level of education they had completed, with 42.1% or 51 participants. The following two largest categories comprise 36 participants, 29.8% completed high school, and 24 participants or 19.8% completed some high school. Only 8 participants or 6.6% of the sample completed middle school, and 1 participant or 0.8% completed elementary school. Table 1 illustrates the demographic characterization and data described in this section.

Table 1:Demographics of Participants

	Characteristics	N	%	Valid %
Age	18 - 26	21	17.4	17.4
	27 - 35	36	29.8	29.8
	36 - 44	39	32.2	32.2
	45 - 53	16	13.2	13.2
	54+	9	7.4	7.4
Gender	Female	27	22.3	22.3
	Male	93	76.9	76.9
	Transgender	1	.8	.8
Race	African American/Black	53	43.8	43.8
	Caucasian/white	59	48.8	48.8
	Hispanic/Latino	2	1.7	1.7
	Two or more	3	2.5	2.5
	Other	4	3.3	3.3
Repeat Offender	Yes	63	52.1	52.1
	No	58	47.9	47.9
Disability	Yes	24	19.8	20.0
	No	96	79.3	80.0
	Missing	1	.8	
Education Completed	Elementary	1	.8	.8
	Middle school	8	6.6	6.7
	High school	24	19.8	20.0
	Completed high school	36	29.8	30.0
	GED	51	42.1	42.5
	Missing	1	.8	
Previously Employed	Yes	106	87.6	88.3
	No	14	11.6	11.7
	Missing	1	.8	

Statistical Analysis

Research Question 1

The first research question aimed to determine if incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college have positive career thoughts. This was determined using descriptive statistics to compare the data in the study to the college normative scores on the Career Thoughts Inventory (CTI). The CTI total mean for incarcerated students is 41.42, which is 5.59 less than the mean of the college student normative sample. While the mean of the total score is lower than the normative sample, each of the construct scales was higher in the incarcerated student sample. The college student sample for the decision-making confusion construct mean was 10.72, but it was 11.55 for this study's incarcerated student sample. The college student normative sample for commitment anxiety had a mean score of 12.92, compared to 13.64 for the incarcerated student sample. Lastly, the mean score for external conflict for the college student normative sample was 3.32, compared to the incarcerated students sample mean of 3.88. Despite these values being larger or smaller means in each group, none of them are significantly different. These scores across groups are displayed in Table 3. Table 2 displays the minimum and maximum scores of the entire incarcerated student sample, showing a significant difference between the minimum score and maximum.

Table 2:
Minimum and Maximum Sample Scores

	Scale	Minimum	Maximum
Incarcerated Students	CTI Total (48 items)	2	90
N=121	DMC (14 items)	2	28
	CA (10 items)	4	27
	EC (5 items)	0	9

Table 3: CTI Descriptive Statistics Across Groups

	Scale	Mean	Std. Dev.	SEM
College Students	CTI Total (48 items)	47.01	20.89	.86
N=595	DMC (14 items)	10.72	7.39	.30
	CA (10 items)	12.92	5.36	.22
	EC (5 items)	3.32	2.15	.09
Incarcerated Students	CTI Total (48 items)	41.42	19.74	1.80
N=121	DMC (14 items)	11.55	6.10	.55
	CA (10 items)	13.64	5.70	.52
	EC (5 items)	3.88	2.60	.24

Research Question 2

The second research question asked if there a significant difference between re-offense and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. The subquestions investigated if there was a significant difference in each of the CTI construct scales; decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, and external conflict. To establish a measure to record re-offense, the independent variable, a demographic questionnaire, asked if the participant was a repeat offender or not. Descriptive statistics calculated the mean, standard deviation, and frequency of the sample. The sample consisted of 121 respondents; 63 of the participants were repeated offenders. The CTI total mean score of re-offenders is 40.90. The remaining 58 participants do not have a prior offense; their CTI total mean score is 41.98.

To measure the results of the survey responses and answer the research questions, a one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the CTI overall score, the dependent variable, against if the participant reported re-offense. This test yielded F (1,119) = 0.089, p = 0.77 which is approaching significance but not a significant result since p > .05. Post-hoc tests could not be performed because there were less than three groups since the question was only a yes or no

response. The results of the one-way ANOVA are in Table 4; the descriptive statistics follow in Table 5. The results of this one-way ANOVA supported the null hypothesis that there is no significant difference between re-offense and career thoughts of incarcerated individuals.

Table 4: Results of RQ 2 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: CTI Total

		Std.	
Repeat offender	Mean	Deviation	N
Yes	40.90	19.636	63
No	41.98	20.002	58
Total	41.42	19.737	121

Table 5: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 2

Dependent Variable: CTI Total

	Type III Sum of					Partial Eta
Source	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	35.093 ^a	1	35.093	.089	.765	.001
Intercept	207472.944	1	207472.944	528.561	.000	.816
Repeat Offender	35.093	1	35.093	.089	.765	.001
Error	46710.411	119	392.524			
Total	254350.000	121				
Corrected Total	46745.504	120				

a. R Squared = .001 (Adjusted R Squared = -.008)

Research Question 2.1.

The first sub-question in research question two investigates if there is a significant difference in the decision-making confusion CTI construct scale for repeat offender status. The mean, standard deviation, and frequency were determined using descriptive statistics. The mean score of repeat offenders is 11.49, and the mean score of non-repeat offenders is 11.60. This difference in these means is minimal at 0.11.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the CTI decision-making confusion construct scale against if the participant reported a prior offense. This test yielded F (1,119) = 0.01, p = 0.921, which is not significant, meaning the null hypothesis is accepted. The null hypothesis stated there is no significant difference between re-offense and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. The results of the one-way ANOVA and descriptive statistics are in Tables 6 and 7, respectively.

Table 6: Results of RQ 2.1 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: DMC score

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	.375 ^a	1	.375	.010	.921	.000
Intercept	16107.879	1	16107.879	429.435	.000	.783
Repeat Offender	.375	1	.375	.010	.921	.000
Error	4463.625	119	37.509			
Total	20593.000	121				
Corrected Total	4464.000	120				

a. R Squared = .000 (Adjusted R Squared = -.008)

Table 7: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 2.1

Dependent Variable: DMC score

		Std.	
Repeat offender	Mean	Deviation	N
Yes	11.4921	5.92391	63
No	11.6034	6.33547	58
Total	11.5455	6.09918	121

Research Question 2.2.

The second sub-question in research question two investigates if there is a significant difference in the commitment anxiety CTI construct scale and repeat offender status. In this sample, the independent variable is identified as repeat offender status, and the dependent is the commitment anxiety construct score. Descriptive statistics were performed to determine the mean, standard deviation, and frequency resulting in the mean score of repeat offenders is 13.4127 and 13.4138 of non-repeat offenders. This difference in these means is very minimal at 0.0011.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the commitment anxiety construct scale against if the participant reported re-offense. This test yielded F (1,119) = 0.000, p = 0.999. This is not a significant result, and the null hypothesis of no significant difference between the commitment anxiety CTI construct scale and repeat offender status is accepted. The results of the one-way ANOVA are in Table 8, and the descriptive statistics are in Table 9.

Table 8: Results of RQ 2.2 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: CA score

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	3.619E-5 ^a	1	3.619E-5 ^a	.000	.999	.000
Intercept	22432.494	1	21732.562	822.225	.000	.874
Repeat Offender	5.518	1	3.619E-5 ^a	.000	.999	.000
Error	3145.339	119	26.431			
Total	24915.000	121				
Corrected Total	3145.339	120				

a. R Squared = .000 (Adjusted R Squared = -.008)

Table 9: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 2.2

Dependent Variable: CA score

		Std.	
Repeat offender	Mean	Deviation	N
Yes	13.4127	5.33895	63
No	13.4138	4.91698	58
Total	13.4132	5.11968	121

Research Question 2.3.

The third sub-question in research question two investigates if there is a significant difference in the external conflict CTI construct scale. Descriptive statistics were performed to determine the mean, standard deviation, and frequency. The mean score of repeat offenders is 3.92 and 3.82 for non-repeat offenders. This difference in these means is minimal at 0.10.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the external conflict construct scale against whether the participant reported re-offense. This test yielded a non-significant result of F (1,119) = 0.038, p = 0.845. The null hypothesis of no significant difference between the external conflict CTI construct scale and repeat offender status is accepted. Table 10 displays the results of the one-way ANOVA, and Table 11 shows the descriptive statistics.

Table 10: Results of RQ 2.3 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: EC score

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	.261a	1	.261	.038	.845	.000
Intercept	1812.956	1	1812.956	265.404	.000	.690
Repeat Offender	.261	1	.261	.038	.845	.000
Error	812.879	119	6.831			
Total	2631.000	121				
Corrected Total	813.140	120				

a. R Squared = .000 (Adjusted R Squared = -.008)

Table 11: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 2.3

Dependent Variable: EC score

		Std.	
Repeat offender	Mean	Deviation	N
Yes	3.9206	2.36440	63
No	3.8276	2.86012	58
Total	3.8760	2.60311	121

Research Question 3

Research question three aimed to answer if there is a significant mean difference between disability status and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. Descriptive statistics were used to identify the mean, standard deviation, and frequency. The sample consisted of 120 respondents; 24 participants reported having a disability, and 96 did not report a disability. The mean CTI score of those with a disability is 45.21, and those without a disability are 40.55.

A one-way ANOVA was performed to evaluate the relationship between these two variables. The participants either responded yes or no to whether they have a disability, which

results in two levels of the independent variable of disability status. The dependent variable is their CTI total score. The ANOVA was not significant because F(1, 118) = 1.06, p = 0.305. Since p > .05, the null hypothesis is supported with no significant difference between disability and career thoughts of incarcerated students. Post-hoc tests could not be performed for this question because there were less than three groups, as the question was only a yes or no response. The results of the one-way ANOVA are in Table 12; the descriptive statistics follow in Table 13.

Table 12: Results of RQ 3 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: CTI Total

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	416.269 ^a	1	416.269	1.062	.305	.009
Intercept	141213.102	1	141213.102	360.100	.000	.753
Disability	416.269	1	416.269	1.062	.305	.009
Error	46273.698	118	392.150			
Total	253194.000	120				
Corrected Total	46689.967	119				

a. R Squared = .009 (Adjusted R Squared = .001)

Table 13: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 3

Dependent Variable: CTI Total

Have a disability?	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Yes	45.21	19.344	24
No	40.55	19.912	96
Total	41.48	19.808	120

Research Question 3.1.

The first sub-question in research question three investigates if there is a significant difference in the decision-making confusion CTI construct scale. Descriptive statistics resulted in

the mean, standard deviation, and frequency of each independent variable of disability status. The mean decision-making confusion CTI construct score is 12.96 of participants that reported having a disability. The mean decision-making confusion score of those without a disability is 11.24.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to analyze the relationship between the sample's mean decision-making confusion score and disability status. The test results were F (1, 118) = 1.53, p = 0.219, resulting in accepting the null that there is no significant difference between disability status and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. The null was accepted due to the p > .05. The results of the descriptive statistics are in Table 15, the results of the one-way ANOVA are in Table 14.

Table 14: Results of RQ 3.1 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: DMC score

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	56.719 ^a	1	56.719	1.526	.219	.013
Intercept	11242.352	1	11242.352	302.431	.000	.719
Disability	56.719	1	56.719	1.526	.219	.013
Error	4386.448	118	37.173			
Total	20544.000	120				
Corrected Total	4443.167	119				

a. R Squared = .013 (Adjusted R Squared = .004)

Table 15: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 3.1

Dependent Variable: DMC score

Have a disability?	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Yes	12.9583	5.88646	24

No	11.2396	6.14688	96
Total	11.5833	6.11044	120

Research Question 3.2.

The second sub-question in research question three investigates if there is a significant difference in the commitment anxiety CTI construct scale with disability status. The dependent variable is the sample's commitment anxiety score; the independent is disability status in this question. The mean, standard deviation, and frequency of the sample in this sub-question were determined through descriptive statistics. The mean of those with a disability is 14.21, and 13.18 for those without. The descriptive statistics are displayed in Table 17.

To compare the means of the independent and dependent variables, a one-way ANOVA was conducted. The results of the one-way ANOVA indicated no significant difference between the commitment anxiety scale and disability status. The p > .05 at F (1, 118) = 0.774, p = 0.381. There is no significant mean difference between disability status and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. Results of the one-way ANOVA are shown in Table 16.

Table 16: Results of RQ 3.2 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: CA score

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	20.419 ^a	1	20.419	.774	.381	.007
Intercept	14399.252	1	14399.252	545.996	.000	.822
Disability	20.419	1	20.419	.774	.381	.007
Error	3111.948	118	26.372			
Total	24626.000	120				
Corrected Total	3132.367	119				

a. R Squared = .007 (Adjusted R Squared = -.002)

Table 17:
Descriptive Statistics of RQ 3.2

Dependent Variable: CA score

Have a disability?	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Yes	14.2083	5.49291	24
No	13.1771	5.04505	96
Total	13.3833	5.13054	120

Research Question 3.3.

The third sub-question in research question three investigates if there is a significant mean difference between the external conflict CTI construct scale and disability status, the independent variable. Descriptive statistics calculated the mean, standard deviation, and frequency of the external conflict score by disability status. The mean of the sample that reported a disability is 4.58. Of the sample that did not report a disability, the mean score is 3.72. The difference in these means is 0.86.

A one-way ANOVA was used to compare the means of the independent and dependent variables. The test yielded a non-significant result of F (1, 118) = 2.13, p = 0.147, where p > .05. The null hypothesis was accepted indicated that there is no significant difference between disability status and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. The results of the descriptive statistics are in Table 19, the results of the one-way ANOVA are in Table 18.

Table 18: Results of RQ 3.3 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: EC score

Dependent variab	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	14.352 ^a	1	14.352	2.130	.147	.018
Intercept	1323.352	1	1323.352	196.363	.000	.625
Disability	14.352	1	14.352	2.130	.147	.018
Error	795.240	118	6.739			
Total	2627.000	120				
Corrected Total	809.592	119				

a. R Squared = .018 (Adjusted R Squared = .009)

Table 19: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 3.3

Dependent Variable: EC score

Have a disability?	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Yes	4.5833	2.22470	24
No	3.7187	2.67819	96
Total	3.8917	2.60831	120

Research Question 4

The fourth research question aims to answer if there is a significant mean difference between education level and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. The variables of this question are the CTI total score as the dependent variable and the highest level of education completed as the independent variable. There were 120 respondents to this question. Majority of the sample had completed their GED with 51 participants with a mean score of 44.43. The 36 respondents that completed high school had a mean score of 37.83. The mean scores of both high school and completed middle school were similar at 42.58 and 42.13. Only one participant indicated an elementary level education with a score of 23. The results of the descriptive statistics of education level are in Table 21.

The one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the means of education level, and the CTI score yielded F (3, 115) = 0.844, p = 0.5. These results signify that the relationship between education level, and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college is not significant because p > .05. Post-hoc tests could not be performed for this question due to the Elementary school response category having fewer than two cases. The results of the one-way ANOVA are displayed in Table 20.

Table 20: Results of RQ 4 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: CTI Total

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	1288.282 ^a	4	322.070	.844	.500	.029
Intercept	29726.690	1	29726.690	77.889	.000	.404
Yrs_Ed_Com	1288.282	4	322.070	.844	.500	.029
Error	43890.218	115	381.654			
Total	254346.000	120				
Corrected Total	45178.500	119				

a. R Squared = .029 (Adjusted R Squared = -.005)

Table 21: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 4

Dependent Variable: CTI Total

Education Complete	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Elementary	23.00		1
Middle school	42.13	19.996	8
High school	42.58	23.039	24
Completed high school	37.83	19.003	36
GED	44.43	18.025	51
Total	41.75	19.485	120

Research Question 4.1.

The first sub-question in research question four investigates if there is a significant difference in the decision-making confusion CTI construct scale and the highest level of education completed. Descriptive statistics yielded the mean, standard deviation, and frequency of the decisions making confusion score by the independent variable Those with a GED score on this construct score was 12.35, followed by completed high school at 10.72. The high school mean was 11.96, middle school was 10.75, and elementary had a mean score of 6.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the means of the independent variable of education level and the dependent variable of decision-making confusion score. This test produced a non-significant result of F (3, 115) = 0.651, p = 0.627. This indicated acceptance of the null hypothesis that there is no significant difference between education level and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. The one-way ANOVA and research question four descriptive statistics are displayed in Table 22 and Table 23.

Table 22:Results of RQ 4.1 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: DMC score

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	96.797 ^a	4	24.199	.651	.627	.022
Intercept	2208.744	1	2208.744	59.412	.000	.341
Yrs_Ed_Com	96.797	4	24.199	.651	.627	.022
Error	4275.328	115	37.177			
Total	20589.000	120				
Corrected Total	4372.125	119				

a. R Squared = .022 (Adjusted R Squared = -.012)

Table 23: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 4.1

Dependent Variable: DMC score

		Std.	
Education Complete	Mean	Deviation	N
Elementary	6.0000		1
Middle school	10.7500	5.77556	8
High school	11.9583	6.58377	24
Completed high school	10.7222	5.85838	36
GED	12.3529	6.07231	51
Total	11.6250	6.06140	120

Research Question 4.2.

The second sub-question in research question four investigates if there is a significant difference in the commitment anxiety CTI construct scale. Descriptive statistics were utilized to determine the mean, standard deviation, and frequency of the decisions making confusion score by the independent variable. The mean score of those with a GED on the commitment anxiety construct score was 14.10, followed by completed high school at 12.56. The high school mean was 13.71, middle school was 14.13, and elementary had a mean score of 6. Results of research question four descriptive statistics are in Table 23.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the means of the independent variable of education level and the dependent variable of decision-making confusion score. This test produced a non-significant result of F (3, 115) = 1.063, p = 0.378. Since p > .05, the null hypothesis that there is no significant difference between education level and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college is accepted. The results of the one-way ANOVA are displayed in Table 24.

Table 24: Results of RQ 4.2 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: CA score

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	109.558 ^a	4	27.390	1.063	.378	.036
Intercept	3011.647	1	3011.647	116.833	.000	.504
Yrs_Ed_Com	109.558	4	27.390	1.063	.378	.036
Error	2964.408	115	25.777			
Total	24890.000	120				
Corrected Total	3073.967	119				

a. R Squared = .036 (Adjusted R Squared = .002)

Table 25: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 4.2

Dependent Variable: CA score

Education Complete	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Elementary	6.0000		1
Middle school	14.1250	4.61171	8
High school	13.7083	5.71405	24
Completed high school	12.5556	5.78394	36
GED	14.0784	4.22773	51
Total	13.4833	5.08248	120

Research Question 4.3.

The third sub-question in research question four investigates if there is a significant difference in the external conflict CTI construct scale.

Descriptive statistics were utilized to determine the mean, standard deviation, and frequency of the decisions making confusion score by the independent variable. Those with a GED score on the commitment anxiety construct score was 14.61, followed by completed high school at 12.56. The high school mean was 13.71, middle school was 14.12, and elementary had a mean score of 6. The results of research question four descriptive statistics are in Table 23.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the independent and dependent variables of the decision-making confusion score. This result indicated acceptance of the null hypothesis of no significant difference between education level and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college due to p > .05. The results show a non-significant result of F (3, 115) = 0.846, p = 0.499. Results of the one-way ANOVA are displayed in Table 24.

Table 26: Results of RQ 4.3 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: EC score

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	22.820^{a}	4	5.705	.846	.499	.029
Intercept	301.354	1	301.354	44.707	.000	.280
Yrs_Ed_Com	22.820	4	5.705	.846	.499	.029
Error	775.172	115	6.741			
Total	2631.000	120				
Corrected Total	797.992	119				

a. R Squared = .029 (Adjusted R Squared = -.005)

Table 27: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 4.3

Dependent Variable: EC score

Education Complete	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Elementary	3.0000		1
Middle school	4.0000	3.42261	8
High school	4.7500	2.81687	24
Completed high school	3.7500	2.51140	36
GED	3.6275	2.40799	51
Total	3.9083	2.58956	120

Research Question 5

The fifth and final research question intends to answer whether there is a significant difference between previous employment experience and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. In this question, the dependent variable is the sample's mean CTI total score. The independent variable of previous employment experience had two levels of responses of either yes or no. The sample for this question consisted of 120 respondents, where 106 participants responded that they had held a job before incarceration. The remaining 14 reported they had not held a job before incarceration. The mean total CTI score of

those who had held a job before incarceration was 40.21, while those who had not held a job had a higher mean score of 49.36. The descriptive statistics are displayed in Table 29.

In order to compare the CTI total score means of these two groups, a one-way ANOVA was conducted. The results indicated acceptance of the null hypothesis that there is no significant difference between previous employment experience and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. The results had a p > .05 at F (1, 118) = 2.691, p = 0.104. Post-hoc tests could not be performed because there were less than three groups since the question was only a yes or no response. The results of the one-way ANOVA are displayed in Table 28.

Table 28: Results of RQ 5 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: CTI Total

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	1035.277 ^a	1	1035.277	2.691	.104	.022
Intercept	99203.343	1	99203.343	257.849	.000	.686
Job	1035.277	1	1035.277	2.691	.104	.022
Error	45398.648	118	384.734			
Total	250869.000	120				
Corrected Total	46433.925	119				

a. R Squared = .022 (Adjusted R Squared = .014)

Table 29:Descriptive Statistics of RQ 5

Dependent Variable: CTI Total

Have you ever had a job	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Yes	40.21	19.075	106
No	49.36	23.526	14
Total	41.28	19.754	120

Research Question 5.1.

The first sub-question in research question five investigates if there is a significant difference in the decision-making confusion CTI construct scale. Descriptive statistics resulted in the mean, standard deviation, and frequency of each independent variable of previous employment experience. The mean score for the decision-making confusion construct was 11.16 for participants that reported previous employment experience. The mean decision-making confusion score of those without previous employment was 14.29.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to analyze the relationship between the sample's mean decision-making confusion construct score and previous employment experience. The test results were F (1, 118) = 3.286, p = 0.072, resulting in accepting the null that there is no significant difference between previous employment experience and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. Even though the null was accepted due to the p > .05, this relationship between the decision-making confusion score and previous employment experience is approaching significance at 0.072. The results of the descriptive statistics are in Table 31, the results of the one-way ANOVA are in Table 30.

Table 30: Results of RQ 5.1 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: DMC score

. F	Type III					
	Sum of					Partial Eta
Source	Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	120.794 ^a	1	120.794	3.286	.072	.027
Intercept	8007.461	1	8007.461	217.858	.000	.649
Job	120.794	1	120.794	3.286	.072	.027
Error	4337.131	118	36.755			
Total	20397.000	120				
Corrected Total	4457.925	119				

a. R Squared = .027 (Adjusted R Squared = .019)

Table 31:

Descriptive Statistics of RQ 5.1

Dependent Variable: DMC score

Have you ever had a job	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Yes	11.1604	6.01923	106
No	14.2857	6.40227	14
Total	11.5250	6.12058	120

Research Question 5.2.

The second sub-question in research question five investigates if there is a significant difference in the commitment anxiety CTI construct scale. The independent variable had two levels of previous employment experience or not. The mean commitment anxiety construct mean score of those with previous employment experience was 13.11, while the mean score for those without previous employment experience was 15.43. Table 33 displays the descriptive statistics for this sub-question.

To compare the sample means of the independent and dependent variables, a one-way ANOVA was conducted. This test yielded F (1, 118) = 2.551, p = 0.113. The p > .05, resulting in acceptance of the null hypothesis that there is no significant mean difference between previous employment experience and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. The results of the one-way ANOVA are shown in Table 32.

Table 32:

Results of RQ 5.2 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: CA score

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	66.297 ^a	1	66.297	2.551	.113	.021
Intercept	10074.297	1	10074.297	387.717	.000	.767
Job	66.297	1	66.297	2.551	.113	.021
Error	3066.070	118	25.984			
Total	24626.000	120				
Corrected Total	3132.367	119				

a. R Squared = .021 (Adjusted R Squared = .013)

Table 33: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 5.2

Dependent Variable: CA score							
Have you ever had a job	Mean	Std. Deviation	N				
Yes	13.1132	4.90155	106				
No	15.4286	6.46546	14				
Total	13.3833	5.13054	120				

Research Question 5.3.

The third sub-question in research question five investigates if there is a significant difference in the external conflict CTI construct scale. Descriptive statistics were utilized to determine the mean, standard deviation, and frequency of the independent variable's decisions making external conflict construct score. The mean score of those with previous employment experience was 3.77, while the mean score of those without was 4.36. The difference in these means is 0.59.

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the mean scores on the external conflict construct score for those with and without employment experience. This test indicated a non-significant mean difference between previous employment experience and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. The results of F(1, 118) =

0.628, p = 0.430 indicate acceptance of the null hypothesis. Both descriptive statistics and one-way ANOVA results are shown in Table 35 and Table 34, respectively.

Table 34: Results of RQ 5.3 one-way ANOVA

Dependent Variable: EC score

	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	4.211 ^a	1	4.211	.628	.430	.005
Intercept	817.545	1	817.545	121.840	.000	.508
Job	4.211	1	4.211	.628	.430	.005
Error	791.780	118	6.710			
Total	2567.000	120				
Corrected Total	795.992	119				

a. R Squared = .005 (Adjusted R Squared = -.003)

Table 35: Descriptive Statistics of RQ 5.3

Dependent Variable: EC score

Have you ever had a job	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Yes	3.7736	2.59774	106
No	4.3571	2.53004	14
Total	3.8417	2.58631	120

Summary

This study was conducted to investigate the relationship certain factors have on incarcerated students' career thoughts. These factors include repeat offender status, disability status, education level, and previous employment experience. Group membership in these factors was determined through demographic information gathered when the data used for this study was collected. To answer the five research questions and the accompanying sub-questions, the

Career Thoughts Inventory (CTI) was used. The sub-questions utilized the three construct scales of the CTI; decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, and external conflict.

This chapter reports the results of the data analysis and conducted tests through the IBM SPSS Statistics computer program. The chapter reports this analysis through each of the five research questions and their accompanying sub-questions. Excluding the first question, which is descriptive, questions two through five and their 12 sub-questions were analyzed through a one-way ANOVA to compare mean scores across membership groups.

Chapter 4: Discussion

The purpose of this study was to gain more insight into the career thoughts of incarcerated students. The researcher sought to investigate the relationship between group membership in repeat offender status, disability status, education level, and previous employment experience on incarcerated students' career thoughts. The students in this study are incarcerated in a southern state at a technical college that serves solely incarcerated adults. This study aims to better understand the needs incarcerated individuals have regarding career counseling, reentry programming, and whether group membership in these categories impacts their career thinking. These implications to Counseling Practice, Supervision, and Counselor Education will be reviewed in this chapter. This study also intends to increase understanding of the career thoughts of incarcerated individuals who are theoretically being best prepared for career barriers during re-entry. The discussion and interpretation of the CTI and demographic questionnaire data analysis will be examined for each research question and sub-question. Lastly, limitations to this student and recommendations for future research will be discussed.

Career Thoughts of Incarcerated Students

Understanding a student's desire and motivation for employment is important for successful career attainment. Bertoch et al. (2014) indicated the importance of career thoughts, decisions, and performance to be purposeful and productive in reaching career goals. The goal of the first question was to determine if incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in technical college have positive career thoughts. To determine this, the CTI total scores and construct scores collected for this study were compared to the college student normative sample. The college student normative sample's mean is higher at 47.01 than the incarcerated student's CTI total mean at 41.42. This indicates that the incarcerated student's career thinking is more positive

than the college students. Despite this difference, it is not a significant difference. While college student's score was higher in the total score, this changes in all the construct scale scores. The incarcerated student's mean was 0.83 higher at 11.55 compared to 10.72 for college students in the decision-making confusion. Even though there is a difference, it is also not a significant difference, meaning these groups have similar levels of decision-making confusion. The second construct measures commitment anxiety. In this construct, incarcerated student's mean was 0.72 higher at 13.64 and 12.92 for college students. Similarly, with a 0.56 difference, the final construct of external conflict college students' mean was 3.32 while the incarcerated students were 3.88. While incarcerated students in each of these constructs displayed a slightly higher level of dysfunctional thinking, there is no significant difference.

The demographics of the normative group have some slight differences from participants in this study. The main difference was in the average age of the samples. The participants' age range collected in this study was 18 to 60 years old. The majority of participants in this study were between 27 to 44 years old, and the mean age of 36.34 years. In the normative college student sample, the average age was 22, ranging from 17 to 56 years (Sampson et al., 1996). The range of these ages is not much different, but the average age in the groups shows a discrepancy. This age discrepancy could impact on the career thoughts of the incarcerated students due to more vast life experience. Overall, these results indicate that compared to other college students, the technical college's incarcerated students have similar levels of career thoughts.

Re-offense

Recidivism rates are a primary issue faced in corrections. Cooper et al. (2014) reported that 76.9% were rearrested within five years of reentry. Formerly incarcerated individuals often experience difficulty attaining employment since employers are often hesitant to hire those with

a criminal history. This often leads to homelessness and poverty, which can lead to criminal involvement. Research question two and the sub-questions focused on answering if a significant difference between re-offense and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college exists. To answer this question, a one-way ANOVA was conducted in addition to descriptive statistics of the population. All 121 participants of the study responded to this question. There were 63, or 52%, participants that reported being repeat offenders. The means of the CTI total score of repeat and non-repeat offenders only had a 1.08 point difference. The ANOVA results do not indicate a significant difference between the CTI total score and repeat offender status. For all three construct scales, decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, and external conflict ANOVA results did not yield significant results. These results are both consistent and inconsistent with some prior research. Bertoch et al. (2014) discussed how performance in career courses and having a clear vision for their goals results in more purposeful and productive career thoughts. The results of this study indicate that incarcerated students do, on average, have productive and positive career thoughts whether the individual is a repeat offender or not.

Disability Status

Prior studies indicated that college students with a disability experienced significantly higher external conflict levels than those without disabilities (Sears et al., 2014). Incarcerated groups are likely to have a disability, and those with a disability are more likely to have multiple disabilities (Bronson et al., 2015). The third research question and sub-questions aimed to answer if there is a significant difference between disability status and career thoughts in incarcerated students. Of the 121 participants, one individual chose not to respond, 96 individuals reported not having a disability, and 24 reported having a disability. The mean CTI total score of those

with a disability was 45.21 and 40.55 for those without a disability. A one-way ANOVA was performed on the CTI total score and construct scale scores to compare the means of the independent and dependent variables. There was no significant difference between disability and career thoughts of incarcerated students on the CTI total score, the decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, or external conflict construct scales. The lack of significant difference is beneficial to reentry planning for incarcerated students because facility reentry and college personnel will know what level of focus to give on their aspect of a incarcerated persons reentry planning. While this data set only had 20% indicating a disability, Trotter and Noonan (2016) indicated that 40% of inmates report having a disability. This difference could be due to many other factors. However, it is worth considering if this sample just had lower rates of disability status or if those that pursue further education while incarcerated typically have lower rates of disability.

Education Level

Research question four sought to answer if there a significant difference between education level and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. The sub-questions sought to answer if there was a significant difference between education level and the three construct scales of decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, and external conflict. In the United States, more state correctional facilities provide opportunities for incarcerated individuals to complete their GED, and Couloute (2018a) reported that previously incarcerated individuals are more likely to have their GED rather than a high school diploma. The demographics of the data in this study agreed with this statement, with 42% of respondents having a GED as their highest level of education completed, and the following closest groups are 30% completing high school. One hundred twenty of the incarcerated students

reported their education level. A one-way ANOVA was performed to determine differences across the education levels and their CTI total and construct scores. The results in all four scoring areas signify a lack of significant difference between the independent and dependent variables. The education level that had the highest level of external conflict was those that attended but did not complete high school. This differs from previous studies, which identified that the individuals who had only grade school or some grade school as their highest education level had the highest instances of external conflict (Derzis et al., 2017). On the commitment anxiety scale, incarcerated students whose highest level of education was middle school, had the highest scores on this construct. Lastly, regarding the decision-making confusion construct scale, those with their GED had the highest levels of dysfunctional thinking.

Previous Employment Experience

Often for incarcerated individuals, employment becomes a barrier to successful reentry. The final research question and sub-questions ask whether there is a significant difference between previous employment experience and career thoughts, decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, and external conflict in incarcerated students. The overwhelming majority, 88% of respondents, reported having previously been employed before their current incarceration. This increased from the 86% that reported previous employment a few years earlier (Curtis et al., 2013). This is an even more considerable increase from the Rampey et al. (2016) PIAAC assessment study, which exhibited that 65% of the incarcerated individuals assessed had worked full or part-time in the year before their incarceration. The results of the one-way ANOVA conducted to analyze the mean differences indicated a non-significant difference between employment experience and the CTI total score. There was also a lack of significance in comparison with the external conflict construct and commitment anxiety. Sub-

question 5.1 asked about the decision-making confusion construct scale. While it was also ruled a having no significant difference, it is worth noting that this was the lowest significance value and approaching significance. This indicates that if the sample size was larger or if there had been more individuals without previous employment experience within the current sample, there could have been a significant difference in dysfunctional thinking in this construct. Sampson et al. (1996) explain that decision-making confusion refers to the inability to make or maintain the decision-making process due to a lack of understanding or disabling emotions. Bertoch et al. (2014) had indicated that stressful environments and situations, such as prison and preparing for a first job post-release, results in indecision and uncertainty, which could be the reason for decision-making confusion.

Implications of Counseling Practice, Supervision and Counselor Education

Working in corrections is a narrow specialty group in the counseling field; those serving incarcerated students is even more narrow. However, mass incarceration in the US increases the likelihood of someone who has been incarcerated seeking counseling. Even if it is not your client, someone you will work with in the field could likely be affected by incarceration or under correctional control. In 2016, over 6.5 million individuals were under correctional control, meaning they were in prison, jail, paroled, or on probation (The Sentencing Project, 2020). These results assist in preparing incarcerated individuals, both students, and non-students, for reentry and entering the career force. The knowledge that disability status, education level, re-offense, and employment experience does not appear to influence career thinking. This information could also be used to understand that even though these students are incarcerated, their status in either of the dependent variables does not influence their career thinking. Counselors should still tailor their work to the individual. Counseling practice both at this technical school and in correctional

facilities is focused on reentry and reducing recidivism. So, while this aspect of the field is narrow, it is still vital for those who do work in corrections to know their career thoughts.

Counselors also play a fundamental role in connecting individuals to community-based programs. These programs are a predictor of success, which means that understanding the needs of this population and the programs that are successful for them is essential to reentry success (Johnson et al., 2015).

Concerning counseling supervision and education, these same insights create an understanding of what the needs of supervisees' incarcerated clients may need. Often novice counselors are placed in working with clients who have a criminal history, whether by choice or by requirement. This can be difficult for supervisors to navigate, especially if they do not have their own experience working with offenders. Knowing that the criminal justice system currently has close to 7 million people under supervision in the United States alone, and it is very common for those with a criminal history to have a substance abuse disorder or another mental illness (Peters et al., 2017). With such a large population under criminal justice supervision, it is very likely for a counselor to encounter a client with a criminal history. As a supervisor of novice counselors, it is imperative to know the issues incarcerated individuals face, including the difficulties in career attainment and expected levels of dysfunctional career thinking.

Limitations of the Study

There are a variety of limitations of this study. The first is that this study was only able to give a preliminary insight into the career thoughts of the incarcerated students. Career thoughts of incarcerated students were examined using the Career Thoughts Inventory. Their results were analyzed and compared across various identities and life experiences, including disability status, previous work experience, recidivism, and education level. While these scores give you a

preliminary understanding of dysfunctional career thinking across an overall score and the three construct scores, it does not provide deeper insight into what causes these dysfunctional thoughts. Without that insight, it is difficult to make substantial changes to assist individuals in attaining employment post-incarceration.

Another limitation to the study was not knowing what level of career intervention these students are receiving both as a general group at each campus and on an individual basis with a counselor at the college. Sampson et al. (1996) provided information about the percentage of the normative population was receiving career assistance. Of the sample, 54.8% were receiving career assistance and intervention. Knowing the level of career assistance incarcerated students are receiving would provide greater insight into the CTI scores and each construct score.

When considering the research question investigating disability, a smaller number of individuals reported having a disability than expected compared to the typical incarcerated population. There are two possible causes identified at this time as to why the first being stigmatization. Having a disability can feel stigmatizing, especially considering aspects of social desirability when reporting it on an assessment. There is also a wide range of what is considered a disability, but in the context of this data collection, that may not have been understood by the participants. Another cause could be that typically, incarcerated student populations have lower rates of individuals with disabilities. It would also be worth investigating whether those can pursue education while incarcerated may have lower rates of disability or if this is just the case with this sample.

Recommendations for Future Research

Future studies of incarcerated student's career thoughts would be remarkably interesting after the challenges brought about by the Covid-19 pandemic. In prisons, there have been

significant changes in operations due to limiting transmission and infections, and the school serving these individuals have changed as well. Instructional methods have changed, which is a change in the typical career interventions provided at the time of data collection for this study. Future studies could compare a sample of students who were still in classes through these changes and compare to this sample. The Covid-19 pandemic changed the landscape of society and how day-to-day functions take place throughout the country. Future studies could investigate if the pandemic and increased dysfunctional career thinking.

This study intended to determine if the technical college career interventions are successfully impacting career thinking similarly to interventions at colleges, which is why this data was compared with the college student normative data. Conducting analyses of this data sample with similar data of incarcerated individuals without career intervention or technical training at the same correctional facilities could provide even more insight into how enrollment in this technical college impacts career thinking.

A further study of these same measurement methods but utilizing mixed methods could provide an even greater understanding. Utilizing qualitative methods post-assessment with all but especially those with higher dysfunctional thinking within the total scale and constructs to understand better why incarcerated students have these concerns. This could provide a deeper understanding of how specific individual factors are or have been addressed and how they could be addressed better addressed in the future. A longitudinal study of a group of post-incarceration individuals who completed their technical college programs at this school and comparing the recidivism rates and how education and career intervention while incarcerated influences reentry and employment would be beneficial to the field and extend the findings of this study.

Conclusion

This chapter includes the discussion and interpretation of results, implications for the field, limitations, and recommendations for future research. The current study advances the understanding of career thoughts of specifically incarcerated students. There is not a body of research at this time looking at this specific group since programs such as this technical college are still new, however starting to understand the effect they have on reentry and career thoughts of incarcerated students could be beneficial to continue the decline of recidivism rates. This study indicates no significant difference in the sample's total CTI scores or the three construct scores compared to re-offense, disability status, education level, and previous employment experience. Additional studies examining specific aspects of this study deeper and utilizing a mixed-methods approach would further understand the data; a longitudinal study was also suggested.

Chapter 5: Manuscript

Career Thoughts of Incarcerated Students

Abstract

In 2018, the Bureau of Justice Statistics released the results of a nine-year longitudinal study following 412,731 inmates released in 2005, finding 84% of these individuals were rearrested (Alper et al., 2018). This high recidivism rate shows a clear need for reentry intervention to reduce these rates. A key part of reentry should be career readiness, for this to be successful, individuals need to attain skills and education that are congruent to the skills needed in the labor force. Providing career assistance and interventions to those entering the workforce is understanding an individual's desire and motivation in career and education, and negative career thoughts predict job attainment and satisfaction. The purpose of this study was to examine the career thoughts of incarcerated students and determine if intersections of their identities effect their career thoughts through use of the Career Thoughts Inventory and demographic information. The intersections examined includes; re-offense, disability status, education level, and employment experience. This study focuses on investigating the career thoughts of incarcerated students at a technical college serving only incarcerated adults. Results of this study indicate that these intersections do not have a significant difference with incarcerated student's career thoughts.

Keywords

incarceration, incarcerated students, career thoughts inventory, recidivism, reentry, career counseling

Introduction and Background Recidivism and Reentry

The National Research Council reported that half of the 222% growth in the state prison population in the twenty years between 1980 and 2010 was due to this increase in sentence length (Travis, 2014). These decades of harsh sentencing have left the United States with the world's highest incarceration rate. High incarceration rates lead many individuals to be released from prison without a practicable reentry and career plan to make them successful after release from prison. It has been reported that 67.8% of all released inmates were rearrested within three years, and 76.9% were rearrested within five years (Cooper et al., 2014). The Bureau of Justice Statistics released a nine yearlong longitudinal study following 412,731 inmates released by 30 states in 2005 to track recidivism rates (Alper et al., 2018). Within the first year, 45% of the former inmates were rearrested, with another 24% being rearrested within three years. In the following four to six years, another 11% were rearrested and 4% more were rearrested in seven to nine years. These rates total to 69% of these 412,731 individuals who were rearrested within three years and 84% within nine years (Alper et al., 2018). These numbers display the need for reentry programming changes that address causes of recidivism.

Education and Career Attainment of Incarcerated Individuals

Reentry into society is difficult and can be more or less difficult dependent on the individual's education level and employment history. Individuals need to attain skills that are congruent to the skills needed in the labor force, but Rampey (2016) identified that only 30% of incarcerated individuals had been offered educational opportunities while in prison. When compared to those that have not served prison sentences, incarcerated individuals are behind in reading, writing, and mathematics education compared to similar groups in the general population. Most state institutions provide opportunities for incarcerated individuals to complete

their General Education Development, or GED, a test that qualifies as the equivalent to a high school diploma. In fact, people that have served time in prison are more likely to have their GED rather than a high school diploma (Couloute, 2018a). The Program for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC), which measures the relationship between educational background, cognitive skills, use of information and communication technology, and workplace experiences and skills. Two-thirds of the incarcerated population that had a high school diploma in PIAAC scored level 2 or lower in literacy, and 90% of those without a high school diploma had the same results (Rampey et al., 2016). Low education background creates an addition barrier to previously incarcerated individuals for career attainment.

As previously mentioned, there are oftentimes opportunities to enroll in academic programs, according to Rampey et al., (2016) those who wanted to enroll in academic classes or programs mostly desire to learn more with a focus on improving their job prospects post-release. There are four types of programming focused on teaching skill sets needed for employment. The programs which are most commonly offered in correctional education, including, adult basic education, high school and GED, post-secondary education, and vocational education. A meta-analysis of incarcerated adult educational programs found that most of the studies resulted in lower recidivism rates among those who participated in these programs (Davis et al., 2013).

The highest level of education in more than half of previously incarcerated individuals is a GED or high school diploma, which have a diminishing value in the workforce (Couloute, 2018a). Incarcerated individuals can attain career skill training through prison jobs while incarcerated. The PIAAC assessment indicated that 61% of the polled incarcerated population held a prison job at that time (Rampey et al., 2016). Prison jobs are a good method to increase skill and responsibility which are important to holding a job upon reentry. However, these jobs

are still most often held by those with higher education levels than other inmates. The PIAAC assessment demonstrated that only 47% people without a high school credential held a prison job, compared to the 67% of those with a high school credential. This percentage continued to increase for those polled with an Associate degree, 73% of them hold a prison job (Rampey et al., 2016). These numbers indicate that while prison jobs are a good method to increase preparedness for employment upon reentry, those with a prison job had higher literacy skills than the peers who did not have a job in prison.

The Effect of Disability Status.

Disability status can influence career and academic matriculation and education serves and important function in job attainment for people with disabilities. The National Center for Education Statistics released high school graduation rates for both individuals with and without disabilities for the 2015-2016 academic year throughout the United States. Individuals with disabilities demonstrated a 65.5% graduation rate, which was an increase of 0.9% from the prior academic year (National Center for Education Statistics, 2017). A 2016 study reported that 40% of jail inmates had at least one disability, while an additional 16% said they had multiple disabilities (Trotter & Noonan, 2016).

Overall, the incarcerated population is more likely to have a medical history, including a chronic medical condition or disease. Bronson et al. (2015) stated that two in 10 incarcerated adults reported having a cognitive disability, which was the most reported type of disability in this study at 31%. This is almost triple the percentage of individuals with disabilities in the general population at 11%. In this same group, the number of individuals with disabilities increased another 13% when specifying by age to be only inmates older than 50 years old compared to decreasing by 4% when only including those between the ages of 18-24 (Bronson et

al., 2015). Inmates with a disability were also more likely to report a comorbid disorder than those without a disability. These statistics indicate the need to address the career readiness of incarcerated adults with disabilities.

Career Thoughts

Career thoughts are defined as the outcomes of an individual's thinking about assumptions, attitudes, behaviors, beliefs, feelings, plans, and strategies related to career decision making and problem-solving (Sampson et al., 2004, p. 91). Dysfunctional career thinking makes career choice and decision making much more difficult. Liu et al. (2014) used a measure of career maturity as a similar definition to the definition of career thoughts identified in this study and reported that it was associated with better job attainment outcomes. The greater the maturity and less dysfunctional career thoughts resulted in more positive career attainment outcomes (Liu et al., 2014). Those with greater maturity and career thoughts, those individuals had a better chance at obtaining and maintaining employment. Certain career preparation tasks are often avoided by individuals due to their own negative self-beliefs (Fenning et al., 2013). This could lead to what Sampson et al., (p. 2, 1996) identified as decision-making confusion due to the inability to complete tasks for the decision-making process for career choices. The results of the Fenning et al., (2013) study indicated that those with higher self-efficacy, which leads to lower decision-making confusion, less dysfunctional career thinking, and greater career attainment. Often the biases and distorted career thoughts are unnoticed and the environments of individuals gaining career training should be taken into account, as it also has an effect on career thinking.

A fundamental challenge to providing career assistance and interventions to those entering the workforce is understanding an individual's desire and motivation in career and education related to employment. Bertoch et al. (2014) focused on the goal instability related to career

thoughts, decisions, and performance in career courses. Goal stability is predicated on the idea that people need to have a clear vision of their goals in order to be purposeful and productive. The foundation of the Bertoch et al. (2014) study was the belief that goal instability is associated with readiness for career exploration. Stress can influence career readiness and decisions. When individuals are in stressful situations or environments, uncertainty and indecision will often occur, which will result in a level of either satisfaction or dissatisfaction with their choice (Bertoch et al., 2014). Education level appears to have some influence on career thoughts. Derzis et al. (2017) identified that the individuals who had only grade school or some grade school as their highest education level had the highest instances of external conflict. In order to make career decisions and explore career options, the individual must be able to engage in decisionmaking and problem-solving processes. The model developed by Bullock-Yowell et al., (2012) informed career counselors that negative career thoughts explain a portion of exploratory behavior and problem-solving self-efficacy. There is a relationship between negative career thoughts and exploratory behavior, indicating that it is important for career counselors to intervene early in dysfunctional career thinking to be more successful in initiating problemsolving behaviors in the future (Bullock-Yowell et al., 2012). When Thrift et al. (2012) initiated a similar model with a diverse group of college students and conducted a pre- and post- CTI assessment to measure the effectiveness of the career intervention, there was a significant effect on the overall score and two of the assessment's construct scales, both the decision-making confusion and commitment anxiety scales. The post-tests also revealed that there was a significant reduction in negative career thoughts on the decision-making confusion scale and commitment anxiety scale. Career thoughts and decision-making abilities have an impact on

career attainment; therefore it is imperative that dysfunctional and negative career thoughts be addressed in students, especially incarcerated students, prior to entering the field.

Statement of the Problem and Significance of the Study

As rates of incarceration and recidivism increase, there needs to be a way to address the problems that afflict the formerly incarcerated population. Research indicates the increased prevalence of homelessness, unemployment, and poverty among this population. These issues are often due to a lack of career development and job attainment, which results in a clear need for successful employment to reduce recidivism. The Career Thoughts Inventory can help identify negative career thoughts for intervention and better career development before reentry. This study aims to assess what aspects of re-offense, disability status, education level, and employment experience effects the career thoughts of incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college.

This study is significant because previously most research in the population has only focused on incarcerated individuals, but not solely on those that attend higher education. This school is unique due to its goal to serve incarcerated adults and reduce recidivism through assisting individuals be prepared for employment post-incarceration. This is time to thoroughly examine incarcerated individuals' career thoughts in educational and career programming prior to release back into society to decrease the risk of recidivism, as employment is a primary indicator for successful reentry. Research focused on rehabilitation and education of incarcerated groups in order to reduce recidivism has increased over the last 20 years, but little research focusing on the unique group of incarcerated students and career intervention has been produced. The purpose of this study is to determine if there is a relationship between Career Thoughts and reoffense, disability status, education level or employment experience.

Research Questions

Using a demographic questionnaire and formal assessment measures, the study investigates the following research questions:

RQ1: Do incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college have positive career thoughts?

RQ2: Is there a significant difference between re-offense and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ2.1: Is there a significant difference between re-offense and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ2.2: Is there a significant difference between re-offense and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ2.3: Is there a significant difference between re-offense and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ3: Is there a significant difference between disability status and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ3.1: Is there a significant difference between disability status and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ3.2: Is there a significant difference between disability status and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ3.3: Is there a significant difference between disability status and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ4: Is there a significant difference between education level and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ4.1: Is there a significant difference between education level and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ4.2: Is there a significant difference between education level and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ4.3: Is there a significant difference between education level and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ5: Is there a significant difference between previous employment experience and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ5.1: Is there a significant difference between previous employment experience and decision-making confusion in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ5.2: Is there a significant difference between previous employment experience and commitment anxiety in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

RQ5.3: Is there a significant difference between previous employment experience and external conflict in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college?

Participants

The participants of this study are currently incarcerated individuals who are currently enrolled at a technical college in a southern state. The sample population included 121

participants from men's and women's correctional facilities at either of the three campuses this technical college has. Within these programs, students gain life skills training and job placement assistance. The population included participants from men's and women's correctional facilities at either of the three campuses for this technical college. Researchers met with all 121 student inmates prior to completing the assessments. In this meeting, researchers explained the purpose of collecting data was to understand the career development and job interests of students currently enrolled.

Procedures and Data Analysis

The instruments used in this study include a demographic questionnaire and the Career Thoughts Inventory (CTI). The demographic questionnaire evaluates the demographics of the population participating in the study. The CTI is based on the cognitive information processing theory to career development. Results of this assessment can be used to better address the needs of individuals relating to career planning and interventions. The inventory is a 48-question that utilizes a Likert scale of strongly disagree, disagree, agree, and strongly agree. This assessment has three construct scales; decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, and external conflict. When this data was collected, researchers explained the purpose of the data collection and presented the results of their CTI to the students. The students were given the assessment and their results even if they did not consent to their results being in the study. The results of those that consented to the study were deidentified and entered into the IBM SPSS Statistics program. This software was uses to perform descriptive statistics and a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). The descriptive statistics were used to analyze the demographic information collected, specifically percentage measure of frequency for each response, the mean measure of central tendency of scores in total CTI and the three constructs, and standard deviation measure

of variation of the scores. The one-way ANOVA was used to examine the difference in assessment and construct scores with the participant's group affiliation.

Results

Demographics

The participant population included 121 student inmates from three campuses for the same technical college; one campus serves inmates from women's state correctional facilities and the other two campuses serve men's state correctional facilities. Of the total 121 participants, their ages fell between 18 to 60 years old, with a mean age of 36.34 years. Majority (32.2%) of the sample fell between 36-44 years old. Ages 27-35 were the second largest group at 29.8%, and 17.4% of the sample was between the ages of 18-36 years old. The final two age groups were 45-53 years old (13.2%) and 54+ (7.4%). The sample was split between three identified gender responses: Female, Male, and Transgender. Majority of the sample identifies as male at 76.9%, or 93 participants. 27 participants in the sample, or 22.3% of the sample identifies as female. One participant in the sample identifies as transgender, or 0.8%.

The participant's race in this sample is split into five categories: African American/Black, Caucasian/white, Hispanic/Latino, two or more, and other. Majority at 48.8% of the sample selected their race as Caucasian/white. The second largest race group in the sample was African American/Black with 43.8%. The last two categories comprised of a total 7.5% of the sample: 3.3% selecting other, 2.5% selecting two or more, and 1.7% selecting Hispanic/Latino.

Repeat offender status, disability status, and previous employment experience offered a yes or no response. Of the 121-participant sample, 63 or 52.1% of the sample replied yes that they were a repeat offender, while 58 participants or 47.9% of the sample replied no. The majority of the sample indicated they did not have a disability (79.3%). Regarding previous

employment, 87.6% indicated they did have full-time employment experience prior to incarceration. Lastly, the education category comprised of five categories; Elementary school, Middle school, high school, completed high school, and GED. Majority of respondents indicated that GED was the highest level of education they had completed with 42.1%. The next two largest categories comprise of 29.8% completed high school and 19.8% completed some high school. Only 6.6% of the sample completed middle school and 1 participant or 0.8% of the sample completed elementary school. Table 1 illustrates the demographic characterization and data described in this section.

Table 1:Demographics of Participants

	Characteristics	N	%	Valid %
Age	18 - 26	21	17.4	17.4
	27 - 35	36	29.8	29.8
	36 - 44	39	32.2	32.2
	45 - 53	16	13.2	13.2
	54+	9	7.4	7.4
Gender	Female	27	22.3	22.3
	Male	93	76.9	76.9
	Transgender	1	.8	.8
Race	African American/Black	53	43.8	43.8
	Caucasian/white	59	48.8	48.8
	Hispanic/Latino	2	1.7	1.7
	Two or more	3	2.5	2.5
	Other	4	3.3	3.3
Repeat Offender	Yes	63	52.1	52.1
	No	58	47.9	47.9
Disability	Yes	24	19.8	20.0
	No	96	79.3	80.0
	Missing	1	.8	
Education Completed	Elementary	1	.8	.8
	Middle school	8	6.6	6.7
	High school	24	19.8	20.0
	Completed high school	36	29.8	30.0
	GED	51	42.1	42.5
	Missing	1	.8	
Previously Employed	Yes	106	87.6	88.3
·	No	14	11.6	11.7
	Missing	1	.8	

Research Question 1: Incarcerated Students Career Thoughts

The first research question sought to determine if incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college have positive career thoughts. The CTI total mean for incarcerated

students was 41.42, which is 5.59 less than the mean of the college student normative sample. While the mean of the total score is lower than the normative sample, each of the construct scales were higher in the incarcerated student sample. The college student sample for the decision-making confusion construct mean was 10.72 but increased to 11.55 for this study's incarcerated student sample. The college student normative sample for commitment anxiety had a mean score of 12.92, compared to 13.64 for the incarcerated student sample. Lastly, the mean score for external conflict for the college student normative sample was 3.32, compared to the incarcerated students sample mean of 3.88. These scores across groups are displayed in Table 2 below.

Table 2:CTI Descriptive Statistics Across Groups

	Scale	Mean	Std. Dev.	SEM
College Students	CTI Total (48 items)	47.01	20.89	.86
N=595	DMC (14 items)	10.72	7.39	.30
	CA (10 items)	12.92	5.36	.22
	EC (5 items)	3.32	2.15	.09
Incarcerated Students	CTI Total (48 items)	41.42	19.74	1.80
N=121	DMC (14 items)	11.55	6.10	.55
	CA (10 items)	13.64	5.70	.52
	EC (5 items)	3.88	2.60	.24

Research Question 2: Re-Offense

The second research question and sub-questions asked if there a significant difference between re-offense and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. All 121 participants of the study responded to this question. Across the board there was no significant difference in the main question regarding the CTI total score and re-offense status, as well as not significant difference in either of the three construct scales of external conflict, commitment anxiety, or decision-making confusion of incarcerated students.

Research Question 3: Disability Status

The third research question aimed to answer if there is a significant mean difference between disability status and career thoughts in incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in a technical college. In all four parts of this question there were 120 respondents, as one participant declined to answer. On the CTI total score and the three construct scores, significant difference was not found. This indicates that disability status does not affect the career thoughts of incarcerated students.

Research Question 4: Education

Research question four and the sub-questions asked if there is a significant mean difference education level and career thoughts in incarcerated students. There was one participant that did not answer this question, therefore there were 120 respondents to the question regarding their education level. The on-way ANOVA conducted on the CTI total score and the three constructs yielded no significant difference. This indicates that education level has no influence on the career thoughts, external conflict, commitment anxiety, or decision-making confusion of incarcerated students.

Research Question 5: Employment Experience

The fifth research question and sub-questions examined the relationship of previous employment experience and career thoughts of incarcerated students. This question examined the results of the CTI total score and the three construct scores which include, external conflict, commitment anxiety, or decision-making confusion. There was no significant difference on any of the score, total nor construct, areas in relation to previous employment experience. There was one area in which the relationship between decision-making confusion score and previous

employment experience is approaching significance at 0.072. This was closer than any other result.

Discussion

A student's desire and motivation for employment are important for successful career attainment as these thoughts, decisions, and performance are imperative to be purposeful and productive in reaching career goals (Bertoch et al., 2014). The goal of the first question was to determine if incarcerated individuals currently enrolled in technical college have positive career thoughts. To determine this, the CTI total scores and construct scores collected for this study were compared to the college student normative sample. The normative sample for the college student mean is higher at 47.01 than the incarcerated student's CTI total mean at 41.42 in the data collection used for this study. While this indicates that the incarcerated student's career thinking is more positive than the college students, it is not a significant difference. In the decision-making confusion, the incarcerated student's mean was 0.83 higher at 11.55 compared to 10.72 for college students. Once again though, there is also not a significant difference and college students and incarcerated students have similar levels of decision-making confusion. The second construct measures commitment anxiety. In this construct incarcerated student's mean was 0.72 higher at 13.64 and 12.92 for college students. Similarly, with a 0.56 difference, in the final construct of external conflict college students mean was 3.32 while the incarcerated students were 3.88. While incarcerated students in each of these constructs displayed a slightly higher level of dysfunctional thinking, there is not a significant difference between the populations.

Re-offense

Recidivism is a major issue faced by corrections today, in fact it has been reported that 76.9% were rearrested within five years of reentry (Cooper et al., 2014). Often, previously incarcerated people have difficulty attaining employment due to their criminal history. Research question two and the sub-questions focused on answering if a significant difference exists between re-offense and career thoughts in incarcerated students.

There were 52%, participants that reported being repeat offenders and the means of the CTI total score of repeat and non-repeat offenders only had a 1.08-point difference. The results do not indicate a significant difference between the CTI total score or the three construct scales and repeat offender status. These results are both consistent and inconsistent with some prior research. Bertoch et al. (2014) discussed how performance in career courses and having a clear vision for their goals results in more purposeful and productive career thoughts. The results of this study indicate that incarcerated students on average have productive and positive career thoughts whether the individual is a repeat offender or not.

Disability Status

Incarcerated groups are likely to have a disability, and those with a disability are more likely to have multiple disabilities (Bronson et al., 2015). The third research questions intended to answer if there is a significant difference between disability status and career thoughts in incarcerated students. There were 120 respondents to this question with the mean CTI total score of those with a disability at 45.21 and 40.55 for those without a disability. A one-way ANOVA results indicated that there was not a significant difference between disability and career thoughts of incarcerated students on the CTI total score, nor on the decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, or external conflict construct scales. The lack of significant difference is

beneficial to reentry planning for incarcerated students, this could also indicate that any accommodations being provided to these students with disabilities at this technical college are beneficial and correct.

Education Level

Research question four aimed to answer if there a significant difference between education level and career thoughts in incarcerated students and the sub-questions sought to answer if there was a significant difference between education level and the three construct scales of, decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, and external conflict. 120 of the incarcerated students reported their education level. Couloute (2018a) reported that previously incarcerated individuals are more likely to have their GED rather than a high school diploma, as United States correctional facilities provide opportunities for incarcerated individuals to complete their GED more often than not. Data demographics in this study portry this with 42% of respondents having a GED as their highest level of education completed and 30% completing high school. The results of the one-way ANOVA in all four scores signify a lack of significant difference between the independent and dependent variable. It was notices that those with the highest level of external conflict was those that attended, but did not complete, high school. This differs from previous studies which identified that the individuals who had only grade school or some grade school as their highest education level had the highest instances of external conflict (Derzis et al., 2017). Incarcerated students whose highest level of education was middle school, had the highest scores on the commitment anxiety scale. Lastly, regarding the decision-making confusion construct scale, those that had their GED had the highest levels of dysfunctional thinking.

Previous Employment Experience

The final research question and sub-questions ask whether there is a significant difference between previous employment experience and career thoughts, decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, and external conflict in incarcerated students. This question is important because often for incarcerated individuals, employment becomes a barrier for successful reentry. Majority of respondents (88%) reported having previously been employed prior to their current incarceration. This was an increase from the 86% that reported previous employment a few years earlier (Curtis et al., 2013). The results of the one-way ANOVA conducted to analyze the mean differences indicated there was not a significant difference between employment experience and the CTI total score. There was also a lack of significance in the comparison with the external conflict construct and commitment anxiety. In the sub-question asking about decision-making confusion construct scale and previous employment, it is worth noting that this was the lowest significance value and approaching significance, despite there being no significant difference. In the future this question should be expanded on with this group, as it indicates there could have been a significant difference in dysfunctional thinking in this construct. Decision-making confusion refers to the inability to make or maintain the decision-making process due to lack of understanding or disabling emotions (Sampson et al., 1996). Bertoch et al. (2014) had indicated that stressful environments and situations, such as prison and preparing for a first job postrelease, results in indecision and uncertainty, which could be the reason for decision-making confusion.

Limitations of the Study and Recommendations for Future Research

There are a variety of limitations of this study, the first being that this study was only able to give a preliminary insight into the career thoughts of the incarcerated students. Career

thoughts of incarcerated students were examined using the Career Thoughts Inventory, then the results were analyzed and compared across various identities and life experiences including disability status, previous work experience, recidivism, and education level. While these scores provide a preliminary understanding of dysfunctional career thinking across an overall score and the three construct scores, it does not provide deeper insight into what causes these dysfunctional thoughts which without that insight it is difficult to make substantial changes to assist individuals in attaining employment post-incarceration. A further study of these same measurement methods but utilizing mixed methods could provide even greater understanding. Utilizing qualitative methods post-assessment with all but especially with those with higher dysfunctional thinking within the total scale and constructs to better understand why incarcerated students have these concerns. This could provide a deeper understanding of how specific individual factors are or have been addressed and how they could be addressed better addressed in the future.

This data set had a smaller rate of individuals reporting having a disability than expected compared to typical incarcerated population. The author identified two different causes that could be possible for this result. The first being the stigmatization that having a disability can bring, especially considering aspects of social desirability. Another cause could be that the student population typically has smaller rates of individuals with disabilities. It would be worth investigating whether those that are able to pursue education while incarcerated may have lower rates of disability or if this is just the case with this sample.

Future studies of incarcerated student's career thoughts would be interesting after the Covid-19 pandemic and the unique challenges it brought. Prisons have faced major operational changes due to limiting infection and transmission of the virus. These changes also affected the technical college and its instructional delivery methods. This change has taken place since the

data for this study was collected. Future studies could compare the sample of students from this study to those who were in classes and still are in classes through the changes in response to Covid-19. The comparison could reflect how the instructional changes affected the career thinking of incarcerated students, as well as a possible qualitative addition to the study could indicate if any fears are due to the changing landscape and new daily functions of society across the country. These studies could investigate if the pandemic affected dysfunctional career thinking.

Conclusions

The intent of this study was the determine if the technical college career interventions are successfully impacting career thinking similarly to interventions at colleges for incarcerated students. The incarcerated students in this study attend a technical college at one of the three campuses utilized in this study. These campuses serve incarcerated adults from men and women's state correctional facilities. The results of this study indicate that re-offense status, disability status, education, nor employment experience have an influence on dysfunctional career thinking. Dysfunctional career thinking was measured through the use of the Career Thoughts Inventory (CTI). The overall results of the were used in addition to the assessment's three construct score areas of, decision-making confusion, commitment anxiety, and external conflict, to measure levels of dysfunctional thinking in incarcerated students. Suggestions for future studies were discussed, including suggestions to investigate how the Covid-19 pandemic has changed these outcomes and including a mixed-methods research methodology in the future to gain more insight.

References

- Alabama Department of Corrections. (2018). *Annual report fiscal year 2018*. Retrieved from http://www.doc.state.al.us/docs/AnnualRpts/2018AnnualReport.pdf
- Alper, M., Durose, M. R., & Markman, J. (2018). 2018 update on prisoner recidivism: A 9-Year follow-up period (2005-2014). Bureau of Justice Statistics.

 https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/18upr9yfup0514.pdf
- Asberg, K., & Renk, K. (2012). Substance use coping as a mediator of the relationship between trauma symptoms and substance use consequences among incarcerated females with childhood sexual abuse histories. *Substance Use & Misuse*. 47: 799-808.

 Doi:10.3109/10826084.2012.669446
- Bertoch, S. C., Lenz, J. G., Reardon, R. C., & Peterson, G. W. (2014). Goal instability in relation to career thoughts, decision state, and performance in a career course. *Journal of Career Development*, 41(2), 104–121.
- Bronson, J., Maruschak, L., & Berzofsky, M. (2015). Disabilities Among Prison and Jail

 Inmates, 2011–12. Bureau of Justice Statistics.

 https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/dpji1112.pdf
- Bullock-Yowell, E., Katz, S. P., Reardon, R. C., & Peterson, G. W. (2012). The roles of negative career thinking and career problem-solving self-efficacy in career exploratory behavior.

 Professional Counselor, 2(2), 102–114.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2020, February 26). *Persons with a disability: Labor force characteristics* 2019 [news release]. https://www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/disabl.pdf

- Civil Rights Division. (2020). *A guide to disability rights law*. U.S. Department of Justice. https://www.ada.gov/cguide.htm
- Cooper, A. D., Durose, M. R., & Snyder, H. N. (2014). Recidivism of prisoners released in 30 states in 2005: Patterns from 2005 to 2010. Retrieved from http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=4986
- Couloute, L. (2018a). *Getting back on course: Educational exclusion and attainment among formerly incarcerated people*. Prison Policy Initiative.

 https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/education.html
- Couloute, L. (2018b). *Nowhere to go: Homelessness among formerly incarcerated people*.

 Prison Policy Initiative. https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/housing.html
- Curtis, R. S., Derzis, N.C., Shippen, M.E., Musgrove, K., & Brigman, H. (2013). Work history and educational characteristics of incarcerated males. *Journal Correctional Education*, 64(1), 36-49.
- Davis, B. E., & May, L. N. (2013). "Where there is a will, there is an A": examining the roles of self-efficacy and self-concept in college students' current educational attainment and career planning. *Social Psychology of Education*, *16*(4), 635–650. https://doiorg.spot.lib.auburn.edu/10.1007/s11218-013-9228-4
- Davis, L. M., Bozick, R., Steele, J. L., Saunders, J., & Miles, J. N. V. (2013). Evaluating the

 Effectiveness of Correctional Education: A Meta-Analysis of Programs That Provide

 Education to Incarcerated Adults. RAND Corporation.

 https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR266.html

- Derzis, N.C., Meyer, J.M., Curtis, R.S., & Shippen, M.E. (2017). An analysis of career thinking and career interests of incarcerated males. *Journal of Correctional Education*, 68(1), 52-70. (data based)
- Derzis, N.C., Shippen, M.E., Meyer, J., Curtis, R., & Houchins, D.E., (2013). The career interests of incarcerated men: The influence of generational difference. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 52(6), 393-406. (data based)
- Harzke, A. J., & Pruitt, S. L. (2018). Chronic medical conditions in criminal justice involved populations. *Journal of Health & Human Services Administration*, *41*(3), 306–347.

 Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com.spot.lib.auburn.edu/login.aspx?direct =true&db=aph&AN=132687233&site=ehost-live
- Johnson, J., Schonbrun, Y., Peabody, M., Shefner, R., Fernandes, K., Rosen, R., & ... Rosen, R.
 K. (2015). Provider experiences with prison care and aftercare for women with cooccurring mental health and substance use disorders: Treatment, resource, and systems integration challenges. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*, 42(4), 417-436. doi:10.1007/s11414-014-9397-8
- Kaeble, D., Alper, M. (2020). *Probation and Parole in the United States*, 2016. Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ppus1718.pdf
- Lapham, S. C., Kapitula, L. R., C, de B. J., & McMillan, G. P. (2006). Impaired-driving recidivism among repeat offenders following an intensive court-based intervention. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 38(1), 162–169. https://doi-org.spot.lib.auburn.edu/10.1016/j.aap.2005.08.009

- Laudet, A. B. (2012). Rate and predictors of employment among formerly polysubstance dependent urban individuals in recovery. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, 31,288-302. doi: 10.1080/10550887.2012.694604
- Lee, D., Peterson, G. W., Sampson, J. P., & Park, M. (2016). A Cross-Cultural Comparison of Negative Career Thoughts. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 24(4), 685–700. https://doiorg.spot.lib.auburn.edu/10.1177/1069072715616112
- Liu, Y., Peng, K., & Wong, C. S. (2014). Career maturity and job attainment: The moderating roles of emotional intelligence and social vocational interest. *International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance*, *14*(3), 293–307.
- Matsumura, K., Hamazaki, K., Tsuchida, A., Kasamatsu, H., Inadera, H., & the Japan Environment and Children's Study (JECS) Group. (2019). Education level and risk of postpartum depression: Results from the Japan environment and children's study (JECS).

 BMC Psychiatry, 19. https://doi-org.spot.lib.auburn.edu/10.1186/s12888-019-2401-3
- McWhirter, E. H. (2013). Vocational psychology, offenders and ex-offenders, and social justice:

 A critical psychology perspective. *Counseling Psychologist*, *41*(7), 1040–1051.

 https://doi-org.spot.lib.auburn.edu/10.1177/0011000013482379
- Musgrove, K. M., Derzis, N.C., Shippen, M.E., & Brigman, H. (2012). The PIRATES program: A pilot study for offenders transitioning into the world of work. *Journal of Correctional Education*, 63(2), 37-48. (data based)
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2017). Public high school 4-year adjusted cohort graduation rate (ACGR), by race/ethnicity and selected demographic characteristics for the United States, the 50 states, and the District of Columbia: School year 2015–16 [Data set]. https://nces.ed.gov/ccd/tables/ACGR_RE_and_characteristics_2015-16.asp

- National Institute of Justice. (n.d.). *Recidivism*. U.S. Department of Justice. Retrieved December 14, 2020, from https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/corrections/recidivism
- Peters, R. H., Young, M. S., Rojas, E. C., & Gorey, C. M. (2017). Evidence-based treatment and supervision practices for co-occurring mental and substance use disorders in the criminal justice system. *American Journal of Drug & Alcohol Abuse*, 43(4), 475–488. https://doi.org/10.1080/00952990.2017.1303838
- Rampey, B. D., Kelper, S., Mohadjer, L., Krenzke, T., Li, J., Thornton, N., Hogan, J., Xie, H., & Provasnik, S. (2016). *Highlights from the U.S. PIAAC survey of incarcerated adults:*Their skills, work experience, education, and training. U.S. Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2016/2016040.pdf
- Rodda, J., & Beichner, D. (2017). Identifying programming needs of women detainees in a jail environment. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 56(6), 373–393. https://doi-org.spot.lib.auburn.edu/10.1080/10509674.2017.1339161
- Ross, M. E. & Shannon, D. M. (2011). Applied Quantitative methods in Education (2nd Edition).

 Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company
- Sampson, J. P., Jr., Reardon, R. C., Peterson, G. W., & Lenz, J. G. (2004). *Career counseling & services: A cognitive information processing approach*. Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole Thomson Learning.
- Sampson, J. P., Peterson, G. W. Lenz, J. G. Reardon, R. C. & Saunders, D. E. (1996). *The use and development of the career thoughts inventory professional manual*. Lutz, FL:

 Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.

- Sears, S. H., Strauser, D. R., & Wong, A. W. K. (2014). Examining career readiness and positive affect in a group of college students with disabilities: A pilot study. *Journal of Postsecondary Education & Disability*, 27(3), 307–319.
- Steurer, S. J., (2020). *How to unlock the power of prison education*. ETS Center for Research on Human Capital and Education. https://www.ets.org/s/research/pdf/how-to-unlock-the-power-of-prison-education.pdf
- The Sentencing Project. (2019). Criminal Justice Facts. Retrieved from https://www.sentencingproject.org/criminal-justice-facts/
- The Sentencing Project. (2020). Fact Sheet: Trends in U.S. Corrections. Retrieved from https://www.sentencingproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Trends-in-US-Corrections.pdf
- Thrift, M. M., Ulloa, H. J., Reardon, R. C., & Peterson, G. W. (2012). Career interventions and the career thoughts of Pacific island college students. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 90(2), 169–176. https://doi-org.spot.lib.auburn.edu/10.1111/j.1556-6676.2012.00022.x
- Travis, J. (2014). The growth of incarceration in the United States: Exploring causes and consequences. National Research Council.
- Trotter, A., & Noonan, M. (2016). Medical Conditions, Mental Health and Problems,

 Disabilities, Mortality Among Jail Inmates. (cover story). *American Jails*, 30(2), 8–14.
- The Urban Institute. (2008). *The challenges of prisoner reentry: Facts and figures* [Fact sheet]. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/31786/411683-the-challenges-of-prisoner-reentry-facts-and-figures.pdf

Van Voorhis, P., Wright, E. M., Salisbury, E. J., & Bauman, A. (2010). Women's risk factors and their contributions to existing risk/needs assessment: The current status of a gender responsive Suppl. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *37*, 261–288. http://dx.doi.org/

- Varghese, F. P. (2012). Vocational interventions with offenders: Interdisciplinary research, theory, and integration. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *41*(7), 1011-1039.
- Varghese, F. P., Fitzgerald, E. L., Chronister, K. M., Cummings, D. L., & Forrest, L. (2013).

 Vocational psychology with criminal justice populations: Why not? *The Counseling Psychologist*, 41(7), 1072–1082. https://doi-org.spot.lib.auburn.edu/10.1177/0011000013496480

Appendix A:

Auburn University Institutional Review Board (IRB) Exemption Letter



IRB/Office of Research Compliance 540 Devall Drive Auburn University, AL 36832 Telephone: 334-844-5966 Fax: 334-844-4391 IRBadmin@auburn.edu IRBsubmit@auburn.edu

April 13, 2021

MEMORANDUM TO: Abigail Holder

College of Education

PROTOCOL TITLE: "Career Thoughts of Incarcerated Students"

IRB FILE NUMBER: 21-154

IRB DETERMINATION: Non-human Subjects Research (NHSR)

Thank you for submitting your protocol to the Institutional Review Board for review. According to your description of this project and the intended use, the IRB has determined that your activities as described **do not constitute "human subjects research"** according to the existing guidelines and statutes (45 CFR 46.102).

Research means a systematic investigation, including research development, testing and evaluation, designed to develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge. Activities, which meet this definition, constitute research for purposes of this policy, whether or not they are conducted or supported under a program, which is considered research for other purposes. For example, some demonstration and service programs may include research activities.

Human subject means a living individual about whom an investigator (whether professional or student) conducting research obtains:

- (1) data through intervention or interaction with the individual, or
- (2) identifiable private information.

If there are any changes made which would constitute human subjects research, or if there are any events adverse or otherwise which concern the investigator(s), we encourage you to contact this office for further consultation.

If you have any questions, contact the Office of Research Compliance at irbsubmit@auburn.edu.

Bernie R. Olin, Pharm.D.

Chair of the Institutional Review Board #2 For the Use of Human Subjects in Research

Serie Ella Pale

Appendix B:

Informed Consent Document



DEPARTMENT OF SPECIAL EDUCATION, REHABILITATION, AND COUNSELING

INFORMED CONSENT

For a Research Study entitled: Career Thinking and Interest Among Incarcerated Adults

You are invited to participate in a research study entitled *Career Thinking and Interests Among Incarcerated Adults* at Ingram State Technical College (ISTC) sites. The purpose of project is to explore your career interests, job matches, and career thinking. This study is being conducted by Danny Owes under the guidance of Dr. Peggy Shippen from Auburn University, Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling. We hope to learn what types of vocational interests inmates in a technical training school self-identify and provide you with a list of jobs to help guide your employment search after release. You were selected as a possible participant because you are enrolled at ISTC and have completed the surveys as part of an information session.

If you decide to participate, you will allow the researchers to use your survey results in our project. If you decide not to allow us to use your survey results, you will still receive the list of job matches indicated by your career interest type. Your total time commitment will be approximately 45-50 minutes. This vocational interest study may benefit you by helping you to see which jobs match your scores. However, no guarantee can be made that the survey results will represent the best fit for a future job. The Career Thoughts Inventory survey can inform the researcher of your level of career thinking. If you decide to participate, there will be no cost to you as this session is free and no compensation will be offered to you.

Your participation is voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will not jeopardize your current or future relations with Auburn University or the Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling or ISTC. If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Auburn University Office of Research Compliance or the Institutional Review Board by phone (334)-844-5966 or e-mail at IRBadmin@auburn.edu. No information obtained in connection with this study will identify you. The survey data will be kept in a locked office at Auburn University. Information collected through your participation may be published in a professional journal, and/or presented at a professional meeting. If so, no personally identifiable information will be included. If you have questions about this study, *please ask them now*.

HAVING HEARD AND READ THE INFORMATION PROVIDED, YOU MUST DECIDE WHETHER OR NOT YOUR INFORMATION SUBMITTED MAY BE USED FOR RESEARCH. IN THE CHECK BOX BELOW, PLEASE INDICATE IF YOU WOULD LIKE YOUR INFORMATION TO BE USED IN RESEARCH BY COMPLETING THE SURVEYS.

Do not sign this form if it does not have the official AU	stamp from the Institutional Review Board.
Participant Signature	Investigator obtaining consent
Participant Print Name	Print Name

Appendix C:

Demographic Questionnaire

Please	indicate your sex/gender:
	Male
	Female
	Transgender
Please	indicate your age group:
	18 - 26
	27 - 35
	36 - 44
	45 - 53
	54 +
Please	indicate your race:
	African American/Black
	Caucasian/white
	Hispanic/Latino
	Two or more
	Other
What i	s the highest grade in school that you completed?
	Elementary
	Middle school
	High school
	Completed high school
	GED
Is this	your first-time in prison?
	Yes
	No
Do yo	a have a disability?
	Yes
	No
Prior to	o incarceration, were you employed full time?
	Yes
П	No

Appendix D:

Career Thoughts Inventory (CTI)



Career Thoughts Inventory[™] (CTI[™]) **Test Booklet**

James P. Sampson, Jr., PhD Gary W. Peterson, PhD Janet G. Lenz, PhD Robert C. Reardon, PhD Denise E. Saunders, MS

This inventory has been developed to help people learn more about the way they think about career choices. Inside this booklet you will find statements describing thoughts that some people have when considering career choices. Please answer each statement openly and honestly as it describes you.

Directions:

Read each statement carefully and indicate the degree to which you agree or disagree with each item by circling the answer that best describes you. Do not omit any items.

SD = Strongly Disagree	D = Disagree	A = Agree	S	A = Stro	ongly A	gree
Circle SD if you strongly o	disagree with the stat	ement.	(SD)	D	A	SA
Circle D if you <u>disagree</u> w	ith the statement.		SD	D	A	SA
Circle A if you agree with	the statement.		SD	D	(A)	SA
Circle SA if you strongly a	gree with the statem	ent.	SD	D	A	SA

If you make a mistake or change your mind, DO NOT ERASE! Make an "X" through the incorrect response and then draw a circle around the correct response.

PAR • 16204 N. Florida Ave. • Lutz, FL 33549 • 1.800.331.8378 • www.parinc.com

Copyright © 1994, 1996 by PAR. All rights reserved. May not be reproduced in whole or in part in any form or by any means without written permission of PAR. This form is printed in blue ink on carbonless paper. Any other version is unauthorized.

Reorder #RO-3434

Printed in the U.S.A.

WARNING! PHOTOCOPYING OR DUPLICATION OF THIS FORM WITHOUT PERMISSION IS A VIOLATION OF COPYRIGHT LAWS.

Na	meDate		_Age	:		_Sex	
Etl	nnicityEducation (highest grade or degree comple	eted) _					
	A A						VII
	No field of study or occupation interests me	SD	D	A	SA		
	the occupation look good	SD	D	A	SA		
J.	I can't get started.	SD	D	Α	SA		
4.	I'll never understand myself well enough to make a good career choice		D	A	SA		
	I can't think of any fields of study or occupations that would suit me		D	A	SA		
	The views of important people in my life interfere with choosing a field						
	of study or occupation.	SD	D	Α	SA		
7.	I know what I want to do, but I can't develop a plan for getting there	SD	D	A	SA		
8.	I get so anxious when I have to make decisions that I can hardly think	SD	D	Α	SA		
	Whenever I've become interested in something, important people in my						
	life disapprove.	SD	D	Α	SA		
10.	There are few jobs that have real meaning.	SD	D	Α	SA		
11.	I'm so frustrated with the process of choosing a field of study or occupation I just want to forget about it for now	SD	D	Α	SA		
12.	I don't know why I can't find a field of study or occupation that seems						
	interesting		D	Α	SA		
	I'll never find a field of study or occupation I really like	SD	D	A	SA		
14.	I'm always getting mixed messages about my career choice from important people in my life.	SD	D	Α	SA		
15.	Even though there are requirements for the field of study or occupation I'm considering, I don't believe they apply to my specific situation	SD	D	Α	SA		
16.	I've tried to find a good occupation many times before, but I can't ever arrive at good decisions.	SD	D	Α	SA		
17.	My interests are always changing	SD	D	A	SA		
18.	Jobs change so fast it makes little sense to learn much about them	SD	D	Α	SA		
	If I change my field of study or occupation, I will feel like a failure		D	A	SA		
20.	Choosing an occupation is so complicated, I just can't get started	SD	D	Α	SA		
21.	I'm afraid I'm overlooking an occupation	SD !	D	Α	SA		
22.	There are several fields of study or occupations that fit me, but I can't decide on the best one.	SD	D	A	SA		
23.				A	SA		
	People like counselors or teachers are better suited to solve my career		-		311		
	problems	SD I	D	A	SA		
m.J.	or occupation I like	SD I	ס	A	SA		

Ci	if territy in school: (2) res of (2) to 11 yes, what grade of year:	CI	iiicii	LIY CI	irpioyec	ı: 🗀 ies	OI LIN	U
If	ves, current occupation	Year	rs in	curre	nt occu	pation _		
2								_
26	My opinions about occupations change frequently.	SD	D	Α	SA			
			D	A	SA			
28	The more I try to understand myself and find out about occupations, the							
	more confused and discouraged I get	SD	D	Α	SA			
29.	There are so many occupations to know about, I will never be able to							
	narrow down the list to only a few	SD	D	Α	SA			
30.	I can narrow down my occupational choices to a few, but I don't seem	-			0.4			
	to be able to pick just one.	SU	D	Α	SA			
31.	Deciding on an occupation is hard, but taking action after making a choice will be harder.	en	D	Α	SA			
29	I can't be satisfied unless I can find the perfect occupation for me		D	A	SA			
	I get upset when people ask me what I want to do with my life		D	A	SA			
	I don't know how to find information about jobs in my field.		D	A	SA			
	I worry a great deal about choosing the right field of study or occupation.		D	A	SA			
	I'll never understand enough about occupations to make a good choice		D	A	SA			
	My age limits my occupational choice		D	A	SA			
			D	A	SA			
	The hardest thing is settling on just one field of study or occupation		D	A	SA			
	Finding a good job in my field is just a matter of luck.	שכ	U	A	SA			
40.	Making career choices is so complicated, I am unable to keep track of where I am in the process.	SD	D	Α	SA			
41.	My achievements must surpass my mother's or father's or my brother's		_					
	or sister's.	SD	D	A	SA			
42.	I know so little about the world of work	SD	D	Α	SA			
43.	I'm embarrassed to let others know I haven't chosen a field of study or							
	occupation.	SD	D	A	SA			
44.	Choosing an occupation is so complex, I'll never be able to make a							
	good choice	SD	D	Α	SA			
45.	There are so many occupations that I like, I'll never be able to sort	00						
40	through them to find ones I like better than others.	SD	D	Α	SA			
46.	I need to choose a field of study or occupation that will please the important people in my life	en	D	Α	SA			
47	I'm afraid if I try out my chosen occupation, I won't be successful.		D	A	SA			
	I can't trust that my career decisions will turn out well for me		D	A	SA			
40.	I can t utust that my career decisions will turn out wen for me	SIL	U	А	SA			

14.00	< 27	128	26	30	31	32		34 0-2							43 20-21			46 27-28		48 31-33									59 56-57	***************************************			64 67-68			68 75-77		70 80-81-								79 100-101	1	T score CTI Total		
											0	-	- ^	·	ري د	4	(h		on ·	7				10	=	13	-	4 6		5 0	ń	17	= =	10	20	21		3 8	3	24	23	26		27	200	24-02	+		Raw scores	Profile for Adults
							o	-		12	ω		 	5		6		7		50 KG	,	10		=		13	E.	14		15	16		17	Bi		19	20	12	2	23		23		24	25	20-00	OR ESO	CA	ores	Adults
									0				-	ve .				N			3	,				4				Ch.			6				7				00					0	10.15	5		
-	A	-	2	N	Ĺ	4	4	л ~	co	10	12	14	 	2	24	27	3	<u>မှ</u>	a i	43 45	 	54	58	62	66	69 2	7 6	79	82	8 2	8 88	98	18 8	3 5	96	96	97	8 8	: 28	99	99	8	¥	¥	ve :	v v v	700	0/10		
			29 3-4		31 7-8						38 21-22								47 40-41							57-58	57 61-62			80 67-69			64 76-77			68 84-85		77 90 90						77 103-104		280 109-144	arc	Ĵ		Profile
	_	_						0		_	2		4.0	5		6	7			. 10	1 =			13			16			19			22 62		23	9 44			27			23 5				33-42	1	-	Raw so	e for College Students
_	-			N	ယ	8.	4	Ch		ø.		7			9		10	=	23	â	13		14		iii	ä	2	17	18	19		20	7	2	23	1	29	24		25	23		97	200	200	29-30	CA	2	orps	ege Stud
								0			16	-4				2				ယ	proportion			4				ហ			6				7				00				٥			10-15	E.	2		lents
												İ									ı								44				0 15	99	98		9 9	2 22	99	99	99	9	4 4	200	- 00	×99	%ile	2/2		
	-		12	ы	ப	. ه	A C	7	8	6	73 3	1 8		21	24	27	4	34	7 45	46	50	54	58	2	8	2	76	79	82	2 88	88	98 5	0 6	- 41		m .		. 60				Ø t	0 4		2 4	ij	ā	<u> </u>		
										37	ည္ (30	41	42	43	44	45	46	47 68	49	T 50	51	52	55 5	55.00	7 00	57	58	59	61	62	2 1	n c	56	67	DD (200	12			74	7 0	76	7 6	7 2	≥ 80	f score C			Pro
			2 29 5-6					7 35 18-19		37	ည္ (30	41	42	43	_	45	46	47 68	49	T 50	51	52	55 5	55.00	7 00	57	58		61	62	2 1	n c	56	67	DD (200				74	7 0	76	7 6	801-901	≥80 110-144	e / score CTI Total	1		Profile for Hi
								18-19		37 22-23	ည္ (20 26 27	41 30-31	42 32-33	43	44 36-37	45 38-39	46	46 44-45	49	T 50	51 50-51	52	54-55	54 55-58	56 61-62	57	58 65-66	59	61 71-72	62 73-74	2 1	65 79-80	56	67 83-84	85.26	200	71 91-92	93-94		74 97-00	75 100-103	76	70 100-107	801-901	≥ 80	e / score CTI Total	naw scores		Profile for High School Students